Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Committee Meeting

Thursday, June 23, 2016

John L. O’Brien Building, Capitol Campus

House Hearing Room E
Olympia, WA 98504
2:00 p.m. -4:00 p.m.

AGENDA
Call to Order & Welcome
e Approval of the April 20, 2016 Minutes ACTION
e Chair’s Report INFORMATION
e Director’s Report INFORMATION
0 Treasury Management Symposium Update
o0 GET Program Update
=  FY17 Administrative Budget Overview
e Savings Plan Procurement Update INFORMATION
e GET Investment Update INFORMATION
Allyson Tucker, Washington State Investment Board
e Review of Committee Member Responsibilities DISCUSSION
Rick Brady, AAG
e Legislative Report Draft Review DISCUSSION
Luke Minor, Associate Director for
GET Marketing & Communications
e GET Policies Update INFORMATION
e GET Non-Penalty Refund Extension ACTION
e Next Steps DISCUSSION

e Public Comment

e Adjournment

Next Meeting:
Wednesday, September 7, 2016
John L. O’Brien Building, Capitol Campus
House Hearing Room E
Olympia, WA 98504
2:00 p.m. - 4:00 p.m.

TAB 1

TAB 2

TAB 3

TAB 4



~'GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*

GET Committee Meeting
June 23, 2016




~'GET

We | CO me & Ap p rova | Of M | n Utes Guaranteed Education Tuition*




~'GET

C h a | r’S Re pO rt Guaranteed Education Tuition*
Today’s Agenda ltems

* Director’s Report and Savings Plan Procurement Update
e Betty Lochner, GET Director

 GET Investment Update
e Allyson Tucker, Washington State Investment Board

* Review of Committee Member Responsibilities
* Rick Brady, Assistant Attorney General

e Legislative Report Draft Review
e Luke Minor, Associate Director for GET Marketing & Communications

e GET Policies and Penalty-Free Refunds Update
e Betty Lochner, GET Director



Chair’s Report
Objectives
 Review the FY17 budget

* Provide an update on the savings plan procurement process

Share the latest GET investment update

e Discuss committee member responsibilities

e Gather feedback on draft legislative report

e Introduce topics for upcoming GET policy discussions

e Consider extending GET penalty-free refund window

~'GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*




~'GET

C h a | r'S Re pO rt Guaranteed Education Tuition*




~'GET

C h a | r'S Re pO rt Guaranteed Education Tuition*

Allyson Tucker
Senior Investment Officer
Washington State

Washington State Actuary Assistant Attorney General
Washington State Office of Washington State Office of

the State Actuary the Attorney General



~'GET

C h a | r’S Re pO rt Guaranteed Education Tuition*

Introducing the new
GET Committee Chair:

Rachelle Sharpe :
WSAC Interim Executive Director |
(Effective July 1, 2016) i e
: : ‘ 7 ,;51,,:
| i
vaiéfr 5




Chair’s Report

Congratulations to:

Betty Lochner
GET Director

Recent recipient of the:
2016 Distinguished Service Award
For Leadership, Dedication and
Commitment

from:
The College Savings Plans Network

~'GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*




Director’s Report

Betty Lochner
GET Director

* Treasury Management Training
Symposium Recap

e GET FY17 Budget Overview

e GET Program Update

~'GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*




~'GET

D| re CtO r'S Re pO rt Guaranteed Education Tuition*
Treasury Management Training Symposium

e Questions and Interest
e RFI for a Washington College Savings Plan

10



Director’s Report
Budget Overview

e Review of Proposed FY17
Administrative Budget

e S5.4 Million

~'GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*

11



Director’s Report

date
Ity-Free Refund Up
rsezzl?emyber 2, 2015 - May 31, 2016)

e Estimated number of penalty-er.e refund
requests received and processed:

15,427
e Estimated dollar value of penalty-f

refunds: .
310 Million

in in May:
. ing requests down again in
IZnOC(r))I:rISégnt gf the volume of the peak mon

(October 2015)

ree

Studert Benefiviary Namne: Actount Cuner Phone Number
Request for Cancellation and Refund — Ligpyp APPOEare by I left blank we dlefind o fidl refind,
ates:

Ber. 3415405 Questings: (-]

GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*

REFUNI/CANC "ELLATION REQUEST
* Use this form 19 fequest a refund of your GET Account, Only the Account Cwneg M2y request & refimd,
* REVIEW THE GET REFIIND AND ('.-\.V(.‘El.l..{]'lﬂ\ POLICY BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FoRM.
If refunding multiple ACCOUNIS, You must complete a separare fore for gach accouns.
You will be issued a 1099.) fopm displeying the principal and EAITIALS Portions of yeur refund, You may need to repor
ks information to he IRS, a5 any account CANINGS may be subject 1o fers] incame tax and a 1% (RS penaity,

i and helict, to avoil IRS taxes ang penslics, you can deposit (rollaver) your tefnd inko another qualified
329 plan within 60 days, by CONSULT Wit A TAX ADVISOR AND IRS PUBLIF ATION 970 T UNDERSTAND
ANY POTENT]A L TAX 1y 4 NS, Rollovers con ooly be made once every 12 months for the sume beneficiary,

- 15 Processed in up to & weeks [longcrlfan} infarmation is missing ar incorrect),
“*Program refund penalties ang fees, and the waeyear wajy reduirement will be waived for ail refund FEQUCHs received an ar hefare
deducted from the refu,

..

.
F
g
£
g

Reason for tefund (Chogss enly ong):
0 Callege Atfardabiisy Act: G T reung fees vaived theough 130132034

O Dbsahitivy of Studens Heneficiary: include capy oF medical documentuticn,
DX eath of Studest Bemeficiary: inchude opy of deaths cestificase.

S Scholarsbip: inchude copy soholarshup aard,
8 Graduation/Program Completian;

1 bereby reques;
a refund of:

0 My entire account

Usnits h
— S

Automatic Payments— I you furve amy ot
* Astosmatic Moy Wichdrawal (ArH) T twcsctivase am ACH, log gy s C Pivmnt Opoons, ©
hemativedy. pous may compiens g Amomaric M'M.ai.!m\an—m‘w Farm. Thit form i1 ivaulaply age W et go:. i

* Payeull Deswction: Tis oy T Pyl dedoction, subwsthe Pl Do 1o ion Foem oy picyer's payvol gfice.

1< 10k Account Crwmer. 1n adition, checks will be mailed 1o the
tpdate your address vicir: W et wa gouforms and select the “elunge af address firm, *

emmmmnmm.»m

Dsie {wan ncah due g by mamrgy

Hewt bedav. This iy Fequired for all refimds,

: Jcerny thae i arhave stisvcsay evidence sar 5 the e wha
) apaared Aefore me, and said prrson ektwienged it (erig) sigmed iz d, k
‘“'“-f\ 80 b fhtsthes e o seinsary act for the uses and L ——

Daved Stgnanre
(s maaCh Bake sgncy

by Account Ownery Frimted Kiame

1Secl ar Sy

Send ta: Guaranieed Edueation Tuition, P.0). Boy 43430, Olyoipia, WA IB5IM-3450
Infodwsac wa, gy or LRMN.95523 15

12



~'GET

D| re CtO r’S Re pO rt Guaranteed Education Tuition*

Distributions for Current College Students
(for payment of higher education expenses —as of May 31, 2016)

* Total accounts receiving distributions

in FY16: 15,800 - ‘
e Estimated dollar value of account ’ ‘
1&-« ! A
SF

distributions in FY16: $157 Million

e Total accounts receiving distributions
since inception: 43,000

e Estimated dollar value of account
distributions since inception: $855 Million

13



~'GET

Savings Plan Procurement Update  guranteed ducation Tuition-
Request for Information (RFI)

e Recommended as a first step by
state procurement expert at DES

e |ssued May 19, 2016

e Responses accepted through
June 17, 2016

e Review of responses

14



~'GET

Savings Plan Procurement Update  guranteed ducation Tuition-
RFP Development/Next Steps

 Internal WSAC/GET Savings Plan Advisory
Team continues to meet weekly

e Consulting with several groups, including:
Department of Enterprise Services, Office
of the State Treasurer, and State
Investment Board

* Hired outside consultant through Attorney
General’s Office to assist with RFP process

e Using RFI responses to inform RFP
development

15



~'GET

Savings Plan Procurement Update  guranteed ducation Tuition-

Tentative Timeline for RFP

D

Develop formal RFP

Issue Request for Proposals (RFP)

Question and answer period

Proposals due

Evaluate proposals

Conduct oral interviews with finalists, if required
Announce “Apparent Successful Bidder”

Finalize and sign contract

Begin implementation

Tentative Washington 529 College Savings Plan opening

Summer 2016

September 2016
September-October 2016
November 2016
November-December 2016
January 2017

January 2017

January 2017

February 2017

Summer 2017

16



Savings Plan Procurement Update

Recent Industry Report

A new 529 plan industry report from
Strategic Insight found that:

“The 529 college savings plan
industry is projected to nearly
double by 2019, providing a
tremendous asset-gathering
opportunity for plan providers,
investment managers and
advisers” (Strategic Insight, 2015).

asset

529 DISTRIBUTION STUDY, 2015

STRATEGIC M

The 529 college savings plan industry is projected to nearly double by 2019, providing

a tremendous asset-gathering opportunity for plan providers, investment managers and
advisers. This study provides essential insights and actionable steps for organizations to grow
their market share by revealing how financial advisers choose and use college savings plans.

STUDY RESERRCH SDURCES AND TOPICS

Strategic Insight's 12th study cn 529 plans s an in-depth qualitative
and quantitative analysis of tha trends that wil drive indusiry growth
over the next five vears. In addition to using proprietary data, SI
commissioned anew primary survey of financial aci panning
al types of distribution Ghan ompensation models, tenure
ranks and assat levels.

, in five sections, cover all of the key factors that impact

avings.

* Historical Channel Sizing and Trends is an overview of
historical 529 pian assats and net flows by distribution methed,
nwestor behavicr towards college planning and the importance of

ergizing the intermediary channe

* Product Selection Preferences highiights trends in advisers'
perceptions of collage savings, nvestment vehicle usage and 529
plan differentiators, providing the key drivers and that product

providers can use to formulate more effective product, marketing
and distribution strategies.

* Distribution Preferences reveals the reasons financi

ct-sold plans, and how

New: 2015 includes a section on the employer channe

« Support Preferences focuses on now product providers can

ncrease 529 use and wallet share among adhisers through
enhanced procict sUpPor, and how value-added practice
management services influence ady selection process.
New:

2015 foatures analysis of the avisor's plan of chaica, and why.

- Strategic Road Map ends the report v s

propensity of advisers to recommand 529 plans going forward
and what roadblocks they perceive as needing resclution

529 WALLET SHARE: PERCENT OF CLIENT COLLEGE SAVINGS RSSETS IN 529 PLANS

) 105 0%

81428 Diat Stuky_B015 pinek 1

plans and the employer channel. Our annual proprietary adviser survey is the
only research designed to show product providers how they can increase 529
plan usage and wallet share by financial professionals and their clients.”

=3 0% 3 0% 1008

s

GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*



~'GET

GET Investment Update Guarantsod Education Tuition"

Allyson Tucker, Senior Investment Officer
Washington State Investment Board (WSIB)

18



Review of Committee Member ﬁ GET

ReS pO ns | b | | |t| es Guaranteed Education Tuition*

Rick Brady, Assistant Attorney General
Washington State Office of the Attorney General

iy
ol o —
A

19



~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-
GET

* RCW 28B.95.030:

(5) The governing body shall administer the Washington advanced
college tuition payment program in a manner reasonably
designed to be actuarially sound, such that the assets of the trust
will be sufficient to defray the obligations of the trust including the
costs of administration. The governing body may, at its discretion,
discount the minimum purchase price for certain kinds of
purchases such as those from families with young children, as long
as the of the account is not jeopardized.

20



~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-

Definition of Actuarial Soundness

e A search of Washington cases has not revealed a definition of actuarial
soundness:

* Retired Public Employees Council of Washington, et al. v. John F. Charles as Director of the
Department of Retirement Systems, 148 Wn.2d 602, 62 P.3d 470 (2003).

e “Actuarially sound” means the plan is sufficiently funded to meet its projected
liabilities and to defray the reasonable expenses of its operation based upon
commonly accepted, sound actuarial principles (RCW 41.26.710(14)).

e “Actuarial soundness” means the fund has achieved financial positioning such
that the collected revenues, including bond forfeiture amounts, and earned
investment income in aggregate are sufficient to build reserves that can be
reasonably anticipated to provide for the long-term future expected reclamation
losses, including shock or catastrophic losses, loss adjustment expenses, and
administrative expenses associated with the fund's operation (KRS 350.500(1)).

21



~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-
Savings Plan

* E2S5SB6601:

Sec.17. RCW 28B.95.150 and 2012 ¢ 198 s 16 are each amended to
read as follows:

3) The committee, after consultation with the state investment
board or other contracted investment manager, shall determine
the investment policies for the college savings program....

22



~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-

Investment Policy Example
Investment Policy: The objectives and guidelines that govern the investment of the Plan Assets.

e Purpose e Securities Guidelines
Plan Summary Selection of Managers
e Background Information Control Procedures
Statement of Objectives  Duties and Responsibilities of the

Responsibilities Managers N
« Delegation of Authority e Disclosure to Participants

* Responsibility of Participants Monitoring of I\/I.anager?s |

 Responsibility of Consultant * Step 1- On-Going Monitoring
Investment Options e Step 2- Formal Watchlist

* Age-Based Program/Model Portfolios * Step 3- Replace or Retain

e Custom Program/Stand-Alone Options * Monitoring Costs

Guidelines and Investment Policy IPS Review and Evaluation

* Age-Based Program/Model Portfolios Source: Indiana Education Savings Authority
e Custom Program/Stand-Alone Options 53



~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-

Member Liability

e RCW 4.24.470 Liability of officials and members of governing body of
public agency—Definitions.
(1) An appointed or elected official or member of the governing body of a
public agency is immune from civil liability for damages for any discretionary
decision or failure to make a discretionary decision within his or her official
capacity, but liability shall remain on the public agency for the tortious conduct
of its officials or members of the governing body.

(2) For purposes of this section:

(a) "Public agency" means any state agency, board, commission,
department, institution of higher education, school district, political
subdivision, or unit of local government of this state including but not
limited to municipal corporations, quasi-municipal corporations, special
purpose districts, and local service districts.

(b) "Governing body" means the policy-making body of a public agency.

24



~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-
Member Liability

e RCW 4.92.075 Action against state officers, employees, or volunteers—
judgment satisfied by state.

When a state officer, employee, or volunteer has been represented by the
attorney general pursuant to RCW 4.92.070, and the body presiding over the
action or proceeding has found that the officer, employee, or volunteer was
acting within the scope of his or her official duties, and a judgment has been
entered against the officer, employee, or volunteer pursuant to chapter 4.92
RCW or 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1981 et seq., thereafter the judgment creditor shall seek
satisfaction only from the state, and the judgment shall not become a lien
upon any property of such officer, employee, or volunteer.

25



~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-

Cooperation

e RCW 28B.95.100 Program planning—Consultation with public and private
entities—Cooperation.

*Changes in 2016 - see 6601-5S2.5L

(1) The governing body, in planning and devising the program, shall consult
with the investment board, the state treasurer, the office of financial
management, and the institutions of higher education.

(2) The governing body may seek the assistance of the state agencies named in
subsection (1) of this section, private financial institutions, and any other
qgualified party with experience in the areas of accounting, actuary, risk
management, or investment management to assist with preparing an
accounting of the program and ensuring the fiscal soundness of the account.

(3) State agencies and public institutions of higher education shall fully
cooperate with the governing body in matters relating to the program in order
to ensure the solvency of the account and ability of the governing body to
meet outstanding commitments.




~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-

Cooperation
 E2SSB6601

Sec. 17. RCW 28B.95.150 and 2012 ¢ 198 s 16 are each amended to read
as follows:

1) The committee may establish a college savings program. If such a
proEram is established, the college savings program shall be established, in
such form as may be determined by the committee, to be a qualified state
tuition program as defined by the internal revenue service under section
529 of the internal revenue code, and shall be administered in a manner
consistent with the Washington advanced college tuition payment
program. The committee, in planning and devising the program, shall
consult with the state investment board, the state treasurer, the state
actuary, the Ie%islative fiscal and higher education committees, and the
institutions of higher education. The governing body may, at its discretion,
consult with a qualified actuarial consulting firm with appropriate
expertise to evaluate such plans for periodic assessments of the program.




~'GET

Member Responsibilities Guaranteed Education Tuition-
Summary

e A good process for decision making ensures
a successful program and limits liability.

e Engage in Due Diligence
e Ask Questions and Deliberate

e Utilize Consultants and Experts

Establish Policies, Follow and Update

e Be Transparent and Disclose

e Monitor and Review

28



~'GET

Legislative Report Draft Review Guaranteed Education Tuition-

Luke Minor
Associate Director for GET Marketing &

Communications

29



~'GET

Legislative Report Draft Review Guaranteed Education Tuition-
Review and Respond to the Legislature on:

* The impact of decreasing tuition rates on the funded status and
future unit price of the GET program;

* The feasibility and different options of establishing a college
savings program;

A list of potential alternatives and impacts for changing the GET
distribution policy from tuition and fees to cost of attendance; and

A list of potential alternatives and impacts for whether the state
penalty for withdrawal should be changed.

By December 1, 2016 )




~'GET

Legislative Report Draft Review Guaranteed Education Tuition-
Key Inputs and Partners

e State Actuary Letter: Impact of
Decreasing Tuition Rates

e Jamie Canup: Memos and Committee
Presentations

e GET Market Analysis
e WSIB Presentation from April 20, 2016

Meeting N

31



~'GET

Legislative Report Draft Review Guaranteed Education Tuition-
Four Key Findings

Decreasing tuition rates have improved GET’s funded status (over 140% funded at
6/30/15). Future unit prices will likely start out lower than the $163/5172 unit prices.

e The feasibility and different options of establishing a 529 college savings program are

currently in progress, as the Committee completes the current procurement process
that considers several possible plan structures.

The Committee does not recommend a cost of attendance payout metric, as it
contains expenses outside the scope of 529 plans. Alternative payout structures,
such as a weighted-average tuition model, are viable but need further exploration.

It was determined that GET could bear temporary refund penalty policy changes and
remain financially solvent. The Committee authorized a temporary refund window,
effective September 2, 2015 — December 15, 2016, allowing customers to refund
their GET accounts without state penalties.

32



Legislative Report Draft Review
Next Steps

e Revise and update over Summer 2016

e Review final report at September 7, 2016
Committee meeting

* Pending GET Committee approval,
submit final report to legislative fiscal
and higher education committees (and
the GET Legislative Advisory Committee)
before end of September 2016
(2+ months early)

~'GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*




GET Policies Update ﬁGET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*
Overview of Items for Upcoming Meetings

Current Policy

Custom Monthly Plan Structural e Contract lengths up to 18 years
Components e Financing charge: 7.5%/year
e Payment processing fee: $1.51/month
Maximum Beneficiary Age No maximum enrollment age
Minimum Holding Period Two-years (temporarily waived through December 15, 2016)

Lifetime Unit Maximum per Student 500 units

Minimum Payout/“Payout Floor” e $117.82/unit until one year of resident, undergraduate tuition and
state-mandated fees at WA’s highest priced public university exceeds
$11,782/year.

* Through December 15, 2016: participants may receive a refund of
their contributions or the $117.82 payout value, whichever is greater.

Benefit Use Year Extensions No maximum number of extensions

Account Transfers No maximum number of transfers
34



~'GET

GET Non-Penalty Refunds Guaranteed Education Tuition-
Update

e Committee members expressed interest in extending deadline at
April 20 meeting.

 GET will reopen by July 1, 2017, as required by E2SSB6601.
* The target opening timeframe for a savings plan is Summer 2017.

* By extending the deadline, the Committee can provide peace of
mind for customers who are waiting to see what Washington will
offer for a new 529 college savings plan and what GET will look like
when it reopens before making a decision on their GET accounts.

35



Guaranteed Education Tuition*

GET Non-Penalty Refunds ~'GET

Staff Recommendation

e Extend the penalty-free refund window and allow customers to
continue to receive the $117.82 payout value or their contributions
(whichever is greater) until September 1, 2017 or until a savings plan
opens, whichever is earlier.

36



~'GET

N EXt Ste pS Guaranteed Education Tuition*




Public Comment K/ GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*

= 30 minutes

= Sign-up sheet

= 3 minutes per person

= |f you would like to submit a written
comment, please send your input to:

GETInfo@wsac.wa.gov, and include the subject
line: “GET Committee Statement”

38


mailto:GETInfo@wsac.wa.gov

Questions & Answers K/ GET

Guaranteed Education Tuition*

Next Meeting

Wednesday, September 7, 2016
John L. O’Brien Building

Capitol Campus, Olympia

House Hearing Room E

2:00 p.m. t0 4:00 p.m.

39



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION (GET) PROGRAM
Committee Meeting Minutes
April 20, 2016
J.A. Cherberg Building, Capitol Campus
Senate Hearing Room 1
Olympia, WA 98504

WSAC Staff in Attendance:

Betty Lochner, GET Director

Betsy Hagen, Associate Director for GET Operations

Luke Minor, Associate Director for GET Marketing & Communications
Jackie Ferrado, GET Community Relations Manager

Dan Payne, GET Marketing & Communications Specialist

Kim Porter, GET Project Manager

Melissa Huster, GET Records Manager

Katie Gross, Special Assistant to the GET Director

Kim Stephens, GET Lead Records Coordinator

Marc Webster, WSAC Senior Fiscal Policy Advisor

Maddy Thompson, WSAC Director of Policy & Government Relations
Rachelle Sharpe, WSAC Deputy Director

Don Alexander, WSAC Director of Financial and Business Services
David Mitchell, WSAC Chief Technology Officer

Guests in Attendance:

Theresa Whitmarsh, Washington State Investment Board
Allyson Tucker, Washington State Investment Board
Angie Naillon, Washington State Investment Board
Matt Smith, State Actuary

Michael Harbor, Office of the State Actuary

Chris Phillips, Washington State Investment Board
Katie Sandboe, Washington State Investment Board
Rick Brady, Office of the Attorney General

Pat Mulligan, Citizen

Representative Steve Bergquist

Senator David Frockt

Adam Hall, Policy Counsel, Washington State Senate
Jamie Canup, Hirschler Fleisher

Ann Ryherd, Citizen

Scott Merriman, Office of Financial Management
Brad Hendrickson, Office of the State Treasurer
Evan Klein, Senate Staff

Denny McKee, Citizen

Karin McKee, Citizen

Megan Mulvihill, House of Representatives



Chris Thompson, House of Representatives
James Crandall, Republican Caucus

Clint McCarthy, Senate Caucus Staff
Catrina Lucero, Office of Program Research

CALL TO ORDER AND WELCOME

The meeting began at 2:02 p.m. Gene Sharratt, Chair of the GET Committee and Executive
Director of the Washington Student Achievement Council (WSAC), welcomed the Committee
members and all other participants. GET Committee members in attendance were Treasurer
James Mclntire, David Schumacher, Director of the Office of Financial Management, Beth
Berendt, citizen member, and Mooi Lien Wong, citizen member. Wong joined the meeting via
conference call. Sharratt reviewed the agenda and asked for a motion to approve the February 11,
2016, minutes. Berendt motioned to approve the minutes and Schumacher seconded the motion.
The minutes were approved unanimously as presented.

CHAIR’S REPORT
Sharratt thanked staff for their work and reviewed the meeting agenda. He noted that one of the
main agenda items for the next GET Committee meeting (June 23) will be the reopening of GET.

LEGISLATIVE UPDATE

Maddy Thompson, WSAC’s Director of Policy & Government Relations, briefly summarized
E2SSB 6601 and the direction the bill gives the GET Committee and staff. Berendt asked if the
existing contracts currently permit the legislature to close the program and therefore impair those
contracts. Rick Brady, Assistant Attorney General, spoke to this question and noted that his
sense is that if the legislature exercises the authority Berendt referenced, the existing accounts
would continue per the program’s master agreement. Brady will research this and report back at
the meeting on June 23, 2016.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
Betty Lochner, GET Director, provided a refund update to the Committee.
e Roughly 14,000 penalty-free refund requests have been received and processed since
September 2, 2015.
e The estimated dollar amount of those refunds is around $285,500,000.
e Staff are 100% caught up on refunds and processing time is down to one week (from 12)
0 We are now receiving about one-third of the amount of requests as we were in
October.
e Preliminary figures:
0 The preliminary value of the fund is about $2.1 billion after these refunds and
student distributions.
o Approximately 15 percent of the accounts with at least some units purchased at
$163/$172 have taken some sort of a refund.
0 More than half of all refunds since June 30, 2015 have been accounts in this
cohort.
o Approximately 19 percent of all accounts opened since 2011 have been refunded.
e There were roughly 43,000 accounts that received amortization refunds totaling around
$51,000,000.



e Roughly $4,600,000 has been refunded back to customers who have made lump sum
contributions since July 1, 2015.

Lochner then provided an update regarding the funds distributed to pay for higher education
expenses:
e Roughly 15,000 GET accounts have requested distributions to pay for college expenses
in FY 16.
e The estimated dollar amount of those distributions are roughly $143,000,000
e The total number of accounts receiving distributions since inception is roughly 43,000
e The estimated dollar value of account distributions since inception is roughly
$842,000,000
Lochner provided the Committee with an update around customer communication since
September 2, 2015:
e Inbound calls: roughly 40,000
e Inbound emails: roughly 6,000

Lochner provided some customer feedback since last September and noted that of the customers
that provided feedback, many have been grateful for the communication the program provides
and are appreciative of how issues are being handled.

Berendt thanked the GET staff for their continued efforts during these changes and for
representing the program well. Berendt asked for an update on staffing since the program
changes have been made and Lochner replied that three staff members have taken new jobs
because of uncertainty (two in Marketing, one in the Contact Center). GET staff have been
extremely resilient.

FEASIBILITY STUDY UPDATE

Lochner reviewed the questions involved in the feasibility study mandate and reminded the
Committee that all of the questions have been answered. Program staff will provide a draft of the
feasibility study report (due to the legislature by December 1, 2016) at the June 23 meeting. It is
anticipated that the final report will be approved at the September 7 GET Committee meeting.

529 SAVINGS PLAN DISCUSSION
Lochner began a discussion regarding the development phase of a 529 savings plan. Lochner
reminded the Committee of the guiding question for this phase:

“What does the State of Washington wish to offer and achieve

for its citizens when considering what the parameters of
its 529 college savings plan should look like?”’
The criteria to consider, as discussed in previous GET Committee meetings are:
1. What would be the most affordable to create and operate for the State, and for

participants?
What would provide the highest quality service, support and options for participants?
What would be the most efficient to establish, operate, and sustain?
4. What are the advantages of this plan for Washington residents?

w N



Lochner requested that Theresa Whitmarsh, Angie Naillon, and Allyson Tucker of the
Washington State Investment Board (WSIB) join her for the remainder of the 529 savings plan
discussion.

Whitmarsh outlined the results of WSIB’s extensive due diligence on the investment options
available for 529 savings plans in response to the goals set by the GET Committee and the
parameters provided in E2SSB6601. The key question for WSIB through this process was
whether or not their scale in the marketplace allowed them to design a “best in class” investment
product at a lower cost than other investment options. Whitmarsh informed the Committee that
the WSIB started their research in late 2015, looking at the feasibility of the WSIB as the
investment manager. E2SSB6601 provided three options for an investment manager:

1. Use the Washington State Investment Board

2. Partner with another state for the investment services

3. Contract with a third-party

Naillon explained that WSIB organized a cross functional team on an accelerated timeline and
staff did extensive research on accessibility, landscape, behavior, menu design, and investment
options, to help provide answers to the key questions Lochner noted earlier.

Whitmarsh added that through the discovery process, the WSIB found that the marketplace did
not support their initial assumptions.

Tucker reviewed the WSIB’s discovery process and findings, noting that GET staff had asked
WSIB to evaluate the feasibility of the WSIB acting as the investment manager, as well as the
requirements for a Washington college savings plan. Early conversations indicated there may be
parallels between what could be offered for a 529 college savings plan and investment options
available through the Deferred Compensation Program (a program for state employees through
the Department of Retirement Systems) that the WSIB manages. Through their research, WSIB
learned that the 529 industry has been built on mutual funds (which are accessible to any
institutional investor) as the preferred investment vehicle. WSIB has tremendous scale in the
retirement industry and has access to other low-cost vehicles, but those vehicles are not
translatable to the 529 college savings industry. Because of this, the WSIB does not add
significant value to this process as an investment manager. The GET Committee is able to go out
and negotiate itself with mutual funds. By doing so, the state could save participants a layer fees
that would be added by WSIB if they managed the investments. Based on these new findings,
using the WSIB would also undermine the rapid launch date of the savings plan.

Whitmarsh added that WSIB remains committed to the Committee and program, and can offer
their expertise to assist the Committee through the process. In conclusion, WSIB stated that they
believe the Committee would better meet the goals of cost, quality and speed by hiring a
different investment manager.

Berendt thanked WSIB staff for all of their work and stated she is hopeful the WSIB will be
involved in the ongoing discussions.



Schumacher requested clarification regarding other states that use the mutual fund strategy. He
asked what kind of variability Washington would have and asked how many different vehicles

other states use. Tucker responded that other states have a selection of portfolios that customers
can choose from and that there is a wide variety of managers that produce mutual funds.

Mclntire voiced his appreciation to WSIB for informing the Committee so quickly and for their
willingness to work with the Committee as consultants. He stated that having outside advisors
was in the best interest of the Committee members. He commended staff and others that helped
bring correct verbiage to the bill that gave the Committee the ability to look at a number of
options.

Whitmarsh told the Committee that WSIB had a conversation with the bill sponsors, per advice
from GET staff, and informed them of their discovery.

Jamie Canup, Attorney with Hirschler Fleischer, updated the Committee on the various
alternatives available for creating a 529 savings plan. Canup reviewed three savings plans
options (these three options assume investment management would be provided by a third party):
1. Self-managed plan: WSAC would be responsible for the program management.
2. Partially contracted plan: some program management functions would be contracted to a
third party
3. Fully contracted plan: all or most program management functions would be contracted to
a third party.
Canup believes it would be best for the Committee to authorize GET staff to start the
development of a Request for Proposals (RFP) for these service options.

Canup stated that 529 plans have invested in a combination of funds (mutual, guaranteed,
savings products, EFTs), and depending on the size of the program, there's a strong effect on
what the fees will be in each option. Berendt asked what kind of guidance GET staff are asking
from the Committee. Lochner stated that staff is looking for the authority to start work on the
construction of an RFP. The hope is to send an RFP out around the end of June 2016. Though
this is an ambitious timeline, with the help of outside consultants, and staff from WSAC and the
Department of Enterprise Services, it is achievable.

Canup emphasized the importance of starting work on an RFP quickly and to make sure that
responsible responses are solicited. It’s important to start the development of a savings plan so
that Washington citizens have a savings vehicle. Considerations to consider when evaluating
RFP responses:

Timeline

Budget/costs

Fees to participants

Leveraging of existing resources

Ease of transfer for current GET participants
Assumptions (consumer response & asset growth)



In order to provide full disclosure, Treasurer Mclntire informed the Committee that he’s the
President of the National Association of State Treasurers (NAST). There is a NAST conference
in June 2016 and it’s possible that this event would allow for an informational session for other
states to ask questions around Washington’s RFP if it was ready by then. Mclintire asked the
Committee to consider estimating the potential of penalty-free refunds between now and the
closure of the penalty-free refund window.

Lochner reminded the Committee that the deadline to request a penalty-free refund is December
15, 2016, and that the Committee has the authority to extend this deadline. Lochner noted that a
lot of customers have expressed excitement around a new savings plan and many are waiting to
see what this option will look like before they decide whether to refund their existing account.

Mclntire reminded the Committee that initial estimates were conducted on the cohort of
customers that purchased at $163/unit and $172/unit. This information could be helpful to those
that may want to respond to this RFP. Bidders may appreciate that there’s a pent up demand for
this program and that could result in a larger program. Lochner noted that customers have also
inquired about transferring their GET funds in to the savings plan once it's open.

Canup noted that money is currently going out of state because Washington doesn’t have an
open plan. Prepaid plans aren't as popular as savings plans, and the press often states that
investors need both types of plans (savings and prepaid).

Wong asked if the RFP would focus on one type of plan. Canup responded that this RFP would
most likely be broad, so that potential bidders could respond to different pieces as they see fit.

Schumacher expressed that the Committee did well responding to customers regarding their
concerns around the recent program changes and that it might be in the customers’ best interest
to extend the penalty-free refund window now before concerns heighten. Schumacher stated that
this would be a good thing for the June meeting agenda. Mclntire mentioned that determining a
new refund deadline could coincide with the RFP timeline. Berendt agreed that the decision
could be made now or it could be part of a special meeting between now and June. Berendt
stated she was okay making the decision today but it may be important for staff to have time to
think on this. Wong stated she would prefer making this decision at a later meeting. Sharratt
recapped the conversation and the Committee will look at the refund deadline and the progress of
the RFP at the next meeting.

Mcintire moved that based on the passage of Engrossed Second Substitute Senate Bill 6601,
which creates the Washington college savings program, that the GET Committee authorize staff
to issue an RFP to solicit bids for investment and program management services for a traditional
529 college savings plan, consistent with the parameters outlined in the authorizing legislation.

Berendt asked that the motion be amended to state that the Committee authorizes staff to develop
the RFP and then authorize the release of the RFP. McIntire agreed to this change. Berendt
seconded the motion as amended. The motion passed unanimously.



PUBLIC COMMENT

Representative Steve Bergquist voiced his support for the reopening of the GET program. He
distributed a handout to the Committee members showing various possible tuition increase
scenarios based on higher education funding policies the Legislature could consider in the future,
and how these scenarios might interact with the GET payout value. He expressed support for a
more predictable benchmark to tie the GET payout value to, such as inflation, in order to insulate
the funded status and health of the program no matter the tuition policy changes in the future.

Bergquist thanked the Committee for the opportunity to speak and shared his appreciation to
Senator David Frockt for bringing this legislation (E2SSB6601) to fruition.

Senator Frockt thanked the Committee for their guidance and encouragement to push. Frockt
agreed with the Committee that the need for the development of savings plan is a time-sensitive
matter. The legislature was able to pass this through the Senate and through the House and to
maintain momentum, there should continue to be a sense of urgency to move forward as quickly
as possible.

ADJOURNMENT

The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, June 23. There may be an additional meeting
scheduled to discuss the RFP progress and the extension of the refund timeline. Meeting
adjourned at 3:15 p.m.



/ﬁ/Washington State Investment Board

GET Prepaid College Tuition Program
Quarterly Report — March 31, 2016

Portfolio Size, Allocation, and Assets Under Management .........ccoccuveeeiiiieeeceiiiee e e 1

[oL=Y s o T 8 0T 0 Lol TR 2




M GET Prepaid College Tuition Program

Portfolio Size

Quarter Ended March 31, 2016

Actual Asset Allocation

Total $2,187,899,554 Fixed Income
Cash 42.38%
Cash $107,210,817 as
4.90%
Fixed Income $927,213,579
Equity $1,153,475,158
Global Equity
52.72%
| Fixed Income |
30% 40% 50%
| Global Equity
40% 55% 70%
<« Range ———*
Cash —
s 4 33115
+ g4 33116
+ Target
0% 5% T T 20% | | | |
0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50% 55% 60% 65% 70%
Note: For comparison purposes in the chart above, fixed income and TIPs were added together for the prior year.
Assets Under Management
3,000 2,509 2,637 300
2,500 o 250
Net Contributions ==o==Growth of Assets -
. 2000 1,735 200 g
S 1,500 150 =
= 1,000 862 100 =
= - eS8 57.5 £
S 500 B8.1 12.9 0.7 50 £
5 0 0 s
=3
- -1.5 -5.5 o
9 -500 50 %
(7]
< 1,000 -100 §
-1,500 -150
-2,000 -200
-2,500 245.7 -250
-3,000 -300
o 33 Y Q N Qv g ) o
& @ A S SO S S A S
& ) & & & & & & & & &

Page 1 of 2



M GET Prepaid College Tuition Program

Quarter Ended March 31, 2016

Total Return *

[ GET College Tuition Program [ Passive Benchmark [ CPI (inflation) + 3.25%
219 9
5.21% 5.02% 4.55% 5.13% 4,92% 5.02%

4.12% 436% 4129 4.05%
0,
2.14% 1.77%
0.75%
L
-1.04%-1.29%
1st Qtr. 2016 1Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Return Breakdown

Equity Return *
Benchmark: MSCI ACWI IMI w/U.S. Gross and a historical blended return

[ Equity @ Equity Benchmark

6.12% 5.91% 5.66% 5.54% 4.47% 4.37%
0.72% 0.39% s —
[
-3.77% -4.05%
1st Qtr. 2016 1Year 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

Fixed Income Return *

Benchmark: Barclays Capital Intermediate Credit and a historical blended return

OFixed Income @ Fixed Income Benchmark

>-34%  4.85%

0 4.01% o
3.55% 2.70% 3.58%

1.82%
1.51% ° 0.87% 0.93%
— |

1st Qtr. 2016 1VYear 3 Year 5 Year 10 Year

* The return numbers above are net of manager fees and other expenses that can be directly debited from the account for portfolio management but do not
include the WSIB management fee.

Page 2 of 2



3% WASHINGTON STUDENT

- EDUCATION - OPPORTUNITY - RESULTS

Future Options for the Washington
Advanced College Tuition Payment
Program: Impacts of the College Affordability
Program

Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment (GET Committee)

Report to the Legislature

DRAFT - June 2016

Washington Student Achievement Council



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

During the 2015 session, the Legislature enacted the College Affordability Program (CAP), which
lowered in-state tuition for two academic years and capped future tuition growth. The legislation
directed the committee on advanced tuition payment (GET Committee) to review and report to the
legislative fiscal and higher education committees on four items by December 1, 2016:

1) The impact of decreasing tuition rates on the funded status and future unit price of the
Washington advanced college tuition payment program (GET program).

2) The feasibility and different options of establishing a college savings program as described
in RCW 28B.95.150.

3) Alist of potential alternatives and impacts for changing the advanced college tuition
payment distribution policy from tuition and fees to a cost of attendance metric.

4) Alist of potential alternatives and impacts for whether the state penalty for withdrawal
should be changed.

In response to these items, the GET Committee offers the following findings to the Legislature:

1) Decreasing tuition rates have significantly improved the funded status of the GET program.
As of June 30, 2015, the program was over 140 percent funded. If the current statutory
tuition growth model holds, the committee will likely set lower future unit prices than the
$163/$172 unit prices in effect since May 1, 2011.

2) The committee is still exploring the feasibility of different options for establishing a 529
college savings program at the time of this report, and is currently engaged in a formal
procurement process to seek vendor proposals for investment and program management
services. The committee is considering possible structures ranging from a fully-contracted
plan to a blended approach, where the state retains certain program management aspects
and contracts for investment management and other services.

3) The committee does not recommend cost of attendance as a basis for the GET payout. This
metric contains expenses outside of the scope of what 529 plans are designed to cover, and
could expose participants to unintended federal tax consequences. Alternative payout
structures, such as weighted-average tuition models, are viable but need further exploration.

4) The committee determined that GET could bear temporary policy changes affecting the
program’s penalty for withdrawal and remain financially solvent. The committee
authorized a temporary refund window, effective September 2, 2015 - December 15, 2016,
allowing participants to refund their GET accounts without state penalties. The committee
has also discussed extending this window until the proposed 529 college savings program
opens, but have not reached a final decision at the time of this report.

The committee will provide updates as work progresses on developing a 529 college savings plan and
preparing for GET's 2017 reopening.

Washington Student Achievement Council



TABLE OF CONTENTS

L. INTRODUCGTION ..octiiismsmsmssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssasasasssssasssssssssssnsnsssnens 1
II. BACKGROUND......coitmmmmmmmisisisisssisssssssssssss s sssssssssssssssssssssasasasasasasasssasssssssasssssssssnsnns 1
III. STATUS UPDATE ... sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssassssssssssssssssssssssssssnns 2
A. Impact of Decreasing TUition RAteS ... ssssssssssssssssssssssns 2
B. Feasibility of a 529 College Savings Program..........nnnsnsneenseessssessssssssssnees 7
C. Alternatives and Impacts of a Cost of Attendance MetriC.......c.currereereneererreeressesrennens 12
D. Alternatives and Impacts for State Penalties on Withdrawals.......cccoeonrererenenennee 15
IV. CONCLUSION ..ottt sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasasasasssasassssssssssasssssnssnns 18
F o o D0\ ] D 19
7 o o D0\ ] D, G 29
APPENDIX C.oocuciinsmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssssasssssasssssssssssssssssssssssssasas sssssssssssssssssssssss s s e s sessssssssssssssssssssnsnes 37
APPENDIX D.couiiissnsisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssassssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnssssssssssssss s s s s sasssassssssssssnsnsnsnes 42
7 o o D0\ ] D G 46

Washington Student Achievement Council



I. INTRODUCTION

During the 2015 session, the Legislature enacted E2SSB5954, which established the College
Affordability Program (CAP), lowered in-state tuition for two consecutive academic years, and
capped future annual tuition growth rates. Section 11 of E2SSB5954 directed the committee
on advanced tuition payment (GET Committee) to review and report to the legislative fiscal
and higher education committees on the following items by December 1, 2016:

1) The impact of decreasing tuition rates on the funded status and future unit price of
the Washington advanced college tuition payment program (GET program).

2) The feasibility and different options of establishing a college savings program as
described in RCW 28B.95.150.

3) Alist of potential alternatives and impacts for changing the advanced college tuition
payment distribution policy from tuition and fees to a cost of attendance metric.

4) Alist of potential alternatives and impacts for whether the state penalty for
withdrawal should be changed.

This report responds to each of these items and indicates which items are still in progress.

I1. BACKGROUND

Washington’s sole state-sponsored college savings option, the GET program, has been helping
Washington families save for future college expenses since 1998. The GET Committee provides
program oversight, and the Washington Student Achievement Council (WSAC) administers
day-to-day operations, in accordance with the program'’s enabling statute (RCW 28B.95).
Participants have opened more than 160,000 GET accounts since GET’s inception, and the
program has distributed more than $854 million on behalf of 43,000 students to help pay for
college. Over 78 percent of the dollars paid directly to higher education institutions stay within
Washington at public or private universities, colleges, and technical schools. In recent years,
GET became one of the largest and fastest growing prepaid tuition programs in the country.

Historically, 100 GET units have equaled one year of resident undergraduate tuition and
state-mandated fees at the state’s highest-priced public university. The CAP significantly
impacted future payout assumptions, as well as GET participant earning potential, as this
legislation marked the first time since the program’s inception that in-state tuition has
been reduced. Acknowledging this impact, the Legislature, in Section 7 of the bill, directed
the GET Committee to maintain the $117.82 per unit payout value for the 2015-16 and
2016-17 academic years. For academic years after 2016-17, the GET Committee is to:
“make program adjustments it deems necessary and appropriate to ensure that the total
payout value of each account on the effective date of this section is not decreased or diluted
as a result of the initial application of any changes in tuition.”

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 1



II1. STATUS UPDATE

Impact of Decreasing Tuition Rates

GET’s funded status is highly sensitive to changing assumptions regarding future tuition
rates. Current and projected tuition and state-mandated fees are also central components
for developing the GET unit purchase price. Accordingly, the following two provisions in
the CAP have the most direct impact on the funded status and future unit price
assumptions for the program:

e The 15 percent reduction in operating fees at the state’s research institutions,
phased in over the 2015-16 and 2016-17 academic years.

e The new tuition growth model based on the average annual growth in median
hourly wage over the last fourteen years, as determined by the federal Bureau of
Labor Statistics.

The GET Committee adopts a unit purchase price annually, based on a price-setting

analysis conducted by the Office of the State Actuary (OSA), who is contracted to provide
assistance to the GET Committee and the Legislature by providing actuarial services and
consultation concerning the GET program. OSA’s three primary services for GET include:

e Preparing an annual actuarial valuation of the GET program for the GET Committee.
e Preparing unit price-setting analysis for the GET Committee.

¢ Consulting, pricing, and communicating the effects of potential changes to the GET
program for the GET Committee or the Legislature.

The OSA has provided a letter that addresses the remainder of this analysis on the impact
of decreasing tuition rates, due to their expertise in this area. This report provides a copy of
the OSA’s complete letter on the following three pages, rather than in the appendices. It is
important for readers of this document to review the following information in its full
context.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 2



State Actuary’s Analysis of the Impact of Decreasing Tuition Rates

«__<Office of the State Actuary

“Supporting financial security for generations.”

Ms. Betty Lochner

Director

Guaranteed Education Tuition

P.O. Box 43430

Olympia, Washington 98504-3430

RE: ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS FOR STUDY ON IMPACTS OF COLLEGE
AFFORDABILITY PROGRAM

Dear Betty:

As vou requested, we prepared actuarial analysis in response to the following question
raised in the study on the impacts of the 2015 College Affordability Program (CAP):

What's the impact of decreasing tuition rates on the funded status and future
unit price of the Washington Advance College Tuition Pavment Program {or
GET Program)?

Please feel free to include this analysis, in its entirety, in yvour response to the study. The
inclusion of the full analysis will help manage the use of our work product.

Impact of Decreasing Tuition Rates

Instead of responding based on a purely hypothetical decreasing tuition environment, we
have assumed the specific tuition decreases enacted under the CAP for purposes of this
analysis. Our analysis would change if we assumed a different future tuition growth
environment.

Funded Status Impacls

Generally speaking, decreasing tuition growth rates improve GET’s funded status. We
provide additional context and details below.

The funded status represents a comparison of the program’s assets, at a single point in time,
with the present value of future program obligations measured at the same point in time. To
measnure the funded status, we make assumptions about future tuition growth rates. How
those assumptions compare to actual experience and how quickly we update those
assumptions will determine how much and how quickly the program’s funded status will
change. For example, if we did not change our assumptions in response to an emerging
lower tuition growth environment, the program’s funded status would not change at all
initially. However, under this hypothetical scenario, over time the program would pay out
lower tuition payments than expected and the program’s funded status would slowly
improve. If presented with this environment in reality, we would make some adjustment to

PO Box 40914 | Olympia, Washington 98504-0914 | state.actuary@leg.wa.cdov | osa.leg.wa.gov
Phone: 360.786.6140 | Fax: 360.586.8135 | TDD: 711

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 3



Actuarial Analysis for Study on Impacts of CAP
-e =& Page? of 3
£

assumptions upfront resulting in an immediate improvement in the funded status and then
any subsequent difference between those assumptions and actual future tuition growth rates
could further increase the funded status (if actual tuition growth is lower than expected) or
decrease the funded status (if actual tuition growth is higher than expected).

For the June 30, 2015, Actuarial Valuation Report, we lowered our tuition growth
assumptions in response to the CAP. The lower assumptions resulted in an increase in the
funded status, measured at June 30, 2015, of 41 percentage points.

Actual future tuition growth as a result of the CAP may vary from our assumptions. As noted
in our 2015 Actuarial Valuation Report, if we assumed a long-term tuition growth rate

1 percent higher/lower, the program’s funded status, measured at June 30, 2015, would
change from 140 percent to 132/148 percent.

Please see our 2015 GET Actuarial Valuation Report for additional considerations and
supporting details.

Unat Price Impacls

Generally speaking, and similar to the discussion above, decreasing tuition growth rates lower
future GET unit prices. However, as discussed below, there are many additional factors
outside future tuition growth rates that ultimately will determine future unit prices. For those
reasons, we are unable to quantify, at this time, the specific impacts of the lower expected
tuition rates from the CAP on future GET unit prices.

Since the last time the GET Committee set a new unit price, the program experienced tuition
reductions, the GET Committee established a new minimum payout value for unredeemed
units, the program refunded past amortization payments (an amount that ranged from about
$18 to $21 per unredeemed unit), and the GET Committee provided a temporary window for
special refund rules.

The removal of the amortization component from the unit price will lower future unit prices.
We expect recent and planned tuition reductions from the CAP will lower future unit prices
below prices paid by recent purchaser cohorts (after reflecting the refunding and removal of
the amortization component from past unit prices paid).

In addition to these changes, when the GET Program reopens, the GET Committee will likely
consider the following items in order to set a future unit price:

%+ What reserve in the unit price is required to manage the risk of
providing the program’s guarantee to new units sold?

% Should the program continue the minimum payout value to protect
future purchasers from any future tuition reductions?

% Are any other program changes required under this new environment?

Office of the State Actuary June 3, 2016

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 4



Actuarial Analysis for Study on Impacts of CAP
- & Page 3 of 3
£

+»» Will there be an initial balance between risk (risk to the state from
offering the guarantee) and affordability (the affordability of the unit to
a future purchaser) to sell new units?

¢ What contingency plans are required to address any imbalance
between risk and affordability that may ocecur in the future?

The forthcoming responses to these questions and actions, in combination with forthcoming
actuarial analysis, will inform the GET Committee’s adoption of a new unit price. Ultimately,
that unit price will reflect the specific impacts of the tuition reductions from the CAP on the
future GET unit price.

We appreciated the opportunity to provide this analysis and assist vou in your response to the
Legislature’s study mandate. Please let us know if you have any questions or need further
assistance.

Other Considerations

For other readers of this analysis, please note we prepared this analysis to respond to the
specific question noted above. This analysis should not be used for other purposes. We also
advise readers of this analysis to seek professional guidance as to its content and
interpretation, and not rely upon this communication without such guidance. Please read the
analysis shown in this letter as a whole. Distribution of, or reliance on, only parts of this
analysis could result in its misuse and may mislead others.

The undersigned, with actuarial credentials, meets the Qualification Standards of the
American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial opinions contained herein. While this
letter is intended to be complete, I am available to offer extra advice and explanations as
needed.
Sincerely,

T Ry S
st h .,
Matthew M. Smith, FCA, EA, MAAA
State Actuary

0:\GET\2016\Actuarial.Analysis. for. Study.on.Impacts.of. CAP. docx

Office of the State Actuary June 3, 2016

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 5



Key Finding
Decreasing tuition generally improves GET’s funded status and lowers future GET unit
purchase prices (see the preceding letter for limitations and assumptions on this finding).

Additional Notes on Funded Status and Unit Pricing
History of the GET Funded Status

As stated above, GET’s funded status is sensitive to short term changes in assumptions.
Figure 1 below shows the history of the GET funded status, which has oscillated from a low
of 78.5 percent to a high of 140.1 percent. Historical precedence does not define future
expectations, though it is important to see and understand the impact of this sensitivity.

Figure 1: GET Funded Status
140.1%

117.4%

110.1%113.4% 109.5% 105.8%

94.1%

104.9% 104.59%108.1%108.8%
98.4%
89.6%

84.2% 86.2% 79 19 78.5%

Funded Status

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fiscal Year

Unit Pricing - Amortization Component

The GET unit purchase price has been based on an actuarial formula that includes current
cost of tuition, estimated future tuition, inflation, investment returns, administrative costs,
and the need for a reserve to assist in periods of fluctuating returns or higher-than-average
tuition. Between May 1, 2011, and July 1, 2015, the pricing model included an amortization
component. This amortization amount offset lower than expected investment returns due
to the impacts of the 2008 recession, coupled with higher than expected tuition growth in
the academic years leading up to 2011. Recent years of flat tuition growth, better than
expected investment returns, and the passage of the CAP improved the program’s financial
health more quickly than expected. In response, on August 18, 2015, the GET Committee
voted to refund the amortization fees paid by all participants who had unredeemed units
purchased at prices of $163 or greater. This resulted in an effective unit price that was $18
to $21 less than the original purchase price paid by participants. In total, the program
refunded $51 million for 43,000 accounts. The amortization amounts charged and
associated unit prices are provided in Figure 2 below. As the OSA stated above, this policy
change is another important factor that will impact future unit price assumptions.

Figure 2: Amortization Amount per Unit

‘Dates Units Purchased  Amortization Amount  Initial Unit Price  Adjusted Unit Price

05/01/11 to 06/30/12 $18.70 $163 $144.30
07/01/12 to 07/02/13 $19.73 $172 $152.27
07/03/13 to 06/30/15 $20.82 $172 $151.18

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 6



Feasibility of a 529 College Savings Program

Washington is one of two states that does not offer a 529 college savings plan, though there
was an attempt to open a plan over a decade ago. In the 2001 session, the Legislature
passed HB2126, granting the GET Committee the authority to establish a 529 college
savings program. The section of the bill providing this authority was codified under RCW
28B.95.150. In 2002, the committee issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) to develop a 529
college savings program and selected an “apparent successful bidder.” In early 2003,
during the contract negotiation process, however, the vendor withdrew their proposal,
citing issues with securing a cost-effective record keeper and uncertain 529 market
conditions. The committee voted to accept the vendor’s withdrawal and put a hold on
pursuing a college savings plan until the market became more stable.

In the 2015 session, the Legislature provided a new opportunity to explore the feasibility
and different options of establishing a 529 college savings plan by passing E2SSB5954.

The Current 529 Plan Landscape

There are currently 61 direct-sold (sold directly to the participant, rather than through a
broker/broker-dealer) and 31 advisor-sold 529 college savings plans in the U.S., for a total
of 92 open plans.! Nationally, the 529 industry continues to grow. According to the College
Savings Plans Network (CSPN), as of December 31, 2015:2

e Total investment by U.S. families in 529 plans reached a record $253.2 billion.
e Approximately 12.5 million 529 plan accounts have been opened nationwide.
e The average 529 plan account has a balance of more than $20,190.

Looking ahead, a recent report from Strategic Insight projects that the college savings plan
industry will double between now and 2019.3 To assess the 529 market potential in
Washington, GET completed a market analysis in December 2015.4 This analysis included a
survey of over 1,000 GET participants and looked at national trends and case studies of
other college savings plans. GET found evidence of a significant demand for a 529 college
savings plan option in Washington, though the success of such a plan would be contingent
upon its overall investment performance, fee structure, and benefits to state residents.

Assessment of Possible 529 College Savings Plan Approaches

Throughout FY16, the GET Committee extensively explored the feasibility of developing a
Washington-based 529 college savings program with the assistance the Washington State
Investment Board (WSIB) and a national 529 expert.

! Jamie Canup Memo to Betty Lochner, RE: 529 College Savings Plan, December 1, 2015. See Appendix A.

Z College Savings Plans Network. (2016). 529 Report: An exclusive year-end review of 529 plan activity. Lexington, KY.
3 Strategic Insight. (2015). 529 Distribution Study, 2015. Boston, MA.

4 The full Washington State 529 Savings Plan Market Analysis can be found in Appendix B.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 7



The committee found that other states employ a wide range of 529 college savings plan
options, from completely “in-house” plans, where the state manages all program aspects, to
fully “turn-key” approaches where a third party vendor(s) provides all services. According
to IRS regulations for 529 plans, there is no prescribed approach or formula that a state
must follow if it decides to offer a 529 college savings plan. The committee determined that
of the possible approaches, there were five key options to consider: >

e Leverage the GET program’s existing self-operated infrastructure to establish a 529
college savings plan that is entirely run by the state, with WSAC as the program
manager, and the WSIB as the investment manager.

e Self-operate all program management aspects, including record-keeping, marketing,
customer service and other administrative functions, and outsource investment
management services to a non-state entity.

e Contract with a third-party record-keeper and non-state investment manager while
keeping other program management functions in-house.

e Contract with a third-party(ies) to either (a) entirely outsource a 529 savings plan
or (b) outsource all program aspects except for in-state marketing efforts.

e Partner with another state-run 529 savings plan that runs its own direct 529
savings plan either to (a) entirely outsource the 529 savings plan or (b) outsource
everything but in-state marketing, which would remain in-house.

The committee’s analysis of these options began with the exploration of this key question:
“Which plan type provides the greatest benefit for our state?” To supplement this
overarching question, the committee established four criteria:

e Which plan is the most affordable for both the state and for plan participants?
» (Criteria include a fee structure that is competitive with other 529 plans
already on the market, as well as low startup and on-going maintenance
costs.

e What would provide the highest quality service, support, and options for participants?
= (Criteria include having a range of attractive investment options that provides
sufficient choices for participants, with returns that meet or exceed the
industry average. The top-rated plans typically feature user-friendly, age-
based options that automatically adjust asset allocations as the beneficiary
ages and nears college. They also feature several static options that allow
participants to build a customized portfolio.

5 Note that each of these options would consider both direct-sold and advisor-sold options.
Washington Student Achievement Council Page 8



e What would be the most efficient to establish, operate and sustain?
= (Criteria include ensuring that the selected model interfaces with the existing
GET program and provides a seamless experience for program staff and
participants of both GET and a college savings plan.

e What are the advantages of this plan for Washington residents?

= (Criteria include providing incentives for in-state residents to choose their
home state’s plan over other options. State income tax deductions on
contributions are a common offering for in-state residents, but are not
currently feasible for Washington. Other incentives the state could pursue
include a matching program where the state or a private partner matches
participant contributions up to a certain amount, or a “seed account”
program where the State or a private partner opens an account containing a
small amount of “seed” money for every child born in the state.

In late 2015, the GET Committee voted to prioritize exploring an “in-house” approach to a
529 college savings plan with WSAC as the program manager and WSIB as the investment
manager, while performing due diligence on the other approaches. Over the remainder of
2015, and through early 2016, the committee and WSAC conducted extensive analysis on
the various program and investment management options. They also provided information
to legislators working on enabling legislation for a 529 college savings plan. During the
2016 session, the Legislature passed E2SSB6601, creating the Washington College Savings
Program, establishing the appropriate account in the custody of the state treasurer, and
providing parameters for the GET Committee in developing a 529 college savings plan.

New Legislative Direction

E2SSB6601 provided several key parameters for a new 529 college savings plan, including:

e Fees charged to the owner may not exceed one-half of one percent for any
investment option on an annual basis (beginning January 1, 2018).

e The GET Committee shall promote, advertise and publicize the new plan and
develop educational materials to highlight how the new plan and GET are different,
and how they can complement each other.

e The GET Committee is directed to create an expedited direct rollover process between
eligible Washington state-sponsored 529 accounts, and to out of state 529 accounts.

e Five policy goals are established in statute for which the GET Committee must
develop objectives and performance measures and report to the legislature
biennially on: Process, People, Parent, Performance and Price.

¢ Non-Washington residents may participate in a 529 college savings plan offered by
WSACG, if it is established.

e The GET Committee is permitted to consider an advisor-sold option.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 9



Additionally, the Legislature provided two mechanisms to fund startup costs for a college
savings plan:

e A $25,000 appropriation (HB2376, Sec. 609(2)).

e Spending from a new Treasury account to cover startup costs with any account
deficit repaid within 5 years pursuant to a plan/schedule to discharge any projected
deficit established by the GET Committee by December 31, 2017.

Early discussions before and after E2SSB6601 passed indicated that WSIB may have been
well-positioned to act as investment manager for a new 529 college savings plan. WSIB has
significant scale in the retirement market and there was a potential opportunity to leverage
the investment options available through the Deferred Compensation Program (DCP) that
WSIB manages to keep fees low for 529 plan participants. Through their extensive due
diligence efforts, WSIB discovered that the 529 industry has been built on mutual funds
(which are accessible to any institutional investor) and that WSIB’s existing DCP vehicles
were not translatable to the 529 college savings industry. Ultimately, WSIB determined that
it would not add significant value as the investment manager for a savings plan, and that
the GET Committee could save participants a layer of fees by contracting directly with a
private investment manager.®

Key Finding
On April 20, 2016, WSIB advised the GET Committee to hire an outside investment
manager, instead of seeking investment management services from WSIB. The two
remaining investment management options for a Washington-based 529 college savings
plan include a non-state third party vendor, or to partner with another state.

Next Steps

Based on this new information, and the provisions in E2SSB6601, the GET Committee
determined that a fully in-house plan was not feasible. In their April 20, 2016 meeting, the
committee authorized WSAC to begin a formal procurement process to seek vendor
proposals for providing services that will include investment management, and may
include one or more of the following components:

e Record-keeping/account management services.
e Marketing.
e (Customer service.

e Other administrative functions.

& Washington State Investment Board. (2016, April 20). Evaluating Investment Solutions
for the GET College Savings Plan [Presentation to the GET Committee]. Olympia, WA. Full presentation available

in Appendix C.
Washington Student Achievement Council Page 10



After consultation with state procurement experts at the Department of Enterprise
Services (DES), WSAC first issued an informal Request for Information (RFI) to the vendor
community. This helped narrow the scope of work for developing an official Request for
Proposals (RFP). A formal RFP was issued on September XX, 2016. At the time of this
report, WSAC and the GET Committee are still engaging in this process. The period of
performance for any contract resulting from a competitive procurement for 529 college
savings plan services is tentatively scheduled to begin in February 2017. A tentative
schedule of activity is provided in Figure 3 below.

Figure 3: Tentative Procurement Schedule for a College Savings Plan

Activity Date \
Issue Request for Proposals (RFP) September 2016

Question and answer period September-October 2016
Proposals due November 2016

Evaluate proposals November-December 2016
Conduct oral interviews with finalists, if required  January 2017

Announce “Apparent Successful Bidder” January 2017

Finalize and sign contract January 2017

Begin implementation February 2017

Washington 529 College Savings Plan opens Summer 2017

The 529 college savings plan industry is still growing and there is evidence that there
remains substantial opportunity in the market for a new entrant, such as the plan that the
state is considering. Until the RFP and contract negotiation processes are complete,
however, the committee is still determining feasibility and different options of establishing
a plan that meets the specifications outlined in E2SSB6601 and within the available funding
sources. The GET Committee will provide an update on the feasibility of a 529 college
savings plan once these processes are complete.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 11



Alternatives and Impacts of a Cost of Attendance Metric

The cost of attendance metric referenced in E2Z2SSB5954 was not clearly defined by the
legislation. At the advice of a national 529 and legal expert, the GET Committee interpreted
this metric to represent the published cost of attendance used by institutions of higher
education to determine financial aid eligibility for students. Using this definition, cost of
attendance is the amount needed to cover one year’s expenses at an institution of higher
education and typically includes: tuition and fees, books and supplies, room and board,
transportation, loan fees, and certain personal costs. These items are typically calculated
for a full time student pursuing undergraduate education.

Cost of Attendance Assessment

No state prepaid tuition programs currently employ a cost of attendance payout model. The
primary concern with using cost of attendance as a benchmark for the GET unit payout
value is that this metric includes expenses that are not covered by Section 529 of the IRS
Code as “qualified higher education expenses.” Designing a program to index to a
benchmark that includes costs outside of the IRS-approved expenses could expose GET
participants to unintended federal tax consequences. Additionally, the stated cost of
attendance is different for each higher education institution, so the program would need to
tailor the GET unit payout value to each separate institution or would need a mechanism to
standardize payments.

Key Finding
The GET Committee does not recommend cost of attendance as a basis for the GET payout.
This metric contains expenses outside the scope of what 529 plans are designed to cover,
and could expose participants to unintended tax consequences.

A more detailed assessment of the cost of attendance metric can be found in Appendix D.

Other Alternative Payout Models

Due to concerns associated with a cost of attendance metric, the committee reviewed and
considered several other alternative payout structures employed by other state prepaid
tuition programs. These alternative models are reviewed, generally, in Figure 4 below.
Variations exist for most of these models. Readers of this report are encouraged to

read Appendix E for more detailed descriptions, variations and considerations for these
models.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 12



Figure 4: Alternative Payout Models

Weighted- Used by several states, this model is based Risk to the state is

Average on a weighted-average of tuition and minimized compared to

Tuition mandatory fees at all of the in-state public GET’s current structure, as
institutions. Many variations of this model the highest in-state tuition
exist that vary between states. Some plans level is not guaranteed. In
pay out the actual tuition and fees for in- some cases, participants
state institutions and apply the weighted- may need another source
average formula when a beneficiary of funds to fully-fund in-
attends an out-of-state or private institution. state tuition costs, if
Others only pay-out the weighted-average  attending a higher-priced
tuition and mandatory fees of all public school. Differential tuition
eligible educational institutions in that state. environments can create

complications.

Credit Hour Based on the mean weighted credit hour Can allow for a lower

Model value at public institutions (either four-year entry point for participants
or two-year/community college) in that and match expenses to
state. In this model, pricing is dependent on actual credit hours taken.
whether the actual cost of the credit hours The state matches the
purchased is covered at any in-state public  payout to individual credit
eligible educational institution or whether hours, rather than entire
only a weighted-average credit cost at all academic years,
in-state pubilic institutions is covered by the semesters, or quarters.
program.

Guaranteed A model used by Pennsylvania that is based Pennsylvania’s program is

Return on average tuition increases in the school not backed by the full

category and credit hour load selected.
Participants anticipate that the increase in
value over time (based on tuition increases)
will be greater than the amount that they
would have earned if they had invested in
the market or in a 529 savings plans. Non-
qualified withdrawals get a minimum
payout equal to the greater of the “net
earnings rate” of the program fund, or the
participant’s initial contributions

faith and credit of the
state. Such a model could
shift some of the risk from
the state to participants.

Risk Transfer

A model used by the Texas Tuition Promise
Fund that transfers the payout risk from the
prepaid program from the program to the
state higher education system. Participants
can purchase tuition units at current tuition
levels and when their beneficiaries are
ready to enroll at a Texas public university or
college, those institutions must accept those
tuition units as payment for tuition. Market
fluctuations in tuition do not affect the value
of the tuition units purchased.

Risk is transferred to the
state’s higher education
institutions and would
require legislation similar to
Texas’s legislation that
requires the Washington
state public higher
education institutions to
accept the value of
tuition units at
matriculation for full
payment of tuition
obligations.

Washington Student Achievement Council

Page 13




Further Considerations

At the time of this report, there are 19 open prepaid tuition plans nationwide. Several other
plans that states have once offered are permanently closed or are not accepting new
enrollments. Generally, each of these open and closed plans has a structure that is unique
to their state.

Other than the risk transfer model found in the Texas program, the other models presented
would require little or no change to RCW 28B.95 that governs the GET program. In
addition, putting aside a model that pays out actual tuition and mandatory fees (as
previously existed when the GET program was open), a prepaid program that is based on
either (1) weighted-average tuition and mandatory fees (for the type of institution
selected) either on a semester or credit hour basis; or (2) average tuition increases in the
past ten years (or other measuring period) at the state’s public eligible educational
institutions (for the type of institution selected) may be models worth exploring.

Additionally, decisions would need to be made to determine if the program would (a) cover
only tuition or tuition and mandatory fees; and (b) pay out the same benefits to
beneficiaries who enroll in private or out-of-state public institutions rather than in-state
public eligible educational institutions. Care must also be taken to define exactly what
tuition and mandatory fees are covered by the state’s prepaid program. Each of these
models described above would need to be reviewed by the OSA to determine if a pricing
model could be determined and sustained for the long-term.

If drastic changes are made to the current GET program, such changes would likely apply
only to new participants. If the terms and conditions of the plan and the financial risk
balance between the state and plan participants significantly shift, this may necessitate
freezing the current GET fund to new contributions and establishing a new and separate
fund. The GET Committee, in consultation with WSAC'’s legal counsel and the OSA are still
assessing such alternative structures. The consideration and potential adoption of any
alternative structures would be a key component of the next price-setting exercise. The
committee will provide an update on this subject once the next price-setting exercise is
complete.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 14



Alternatives and Impacts for State Penalties on Withdrawals

College savings programs meeting the criteria of section 529 of the IRS Code are intended
to be used only for “qualified higher education expenses,” including tuition and fees, room
and board, books and supplies. When used for such expenses, all account earnings (growth)
can be distributed on a federal-tax-free basis. When a participant makes a distribution and
does not use the funds to cover qualified expenses, the IRS imposes a 10 percent penalty on
the earnings portion of the distribution, and taxes the earnings as ordinary income.

Permanent Program Refund Policies

To ensure GET funds are used to cover qualified expenses, the GET program also charges
participants a program refund penalty for “non-qualified” distributions/refunds.
Additionally, the program charges an account cancellation fee to cover the cost of
processing the refund and charges an account maintenance fee to compensate the program
for services rendered while the participant’s account was open. These penalties and fees
are summarized in Figure 5 below. Participants must also hold their funds for up to two-
years before they may make a distribution or refund their account.

Figure 5: GET Program Non-Qualified Distribution (Refund) Fees

Program Refund Penalty 10 percent of earnings or
For all refunds except in the event of death, disability, $100, whichever is greater
scholarship, attendance at a U.S. service academy, or

graduation/completion of higher education program.

Account Cancellation Fee $10

Account Maintenance Fee $1.70 per month

Temporary Refund Policy Changes

After the Legislature enacted the CAP, the GET Committee heard from a number of GET
participants who expressed concern about the future values of their accounts, based on the
tuition policy changes. Participants who purchased new tuition units since May 1, 2011, at
unit prices of $163 and $172 for older children were especially concerned about their
ability to recover their full investment principal. After careful consideration of available
options and the potential impacts on the program, the GET Committee unanimously voted
to waive all program refund penalties and fees, as well as the two-year hold requirement
for all account owners for a temporary period of time.” Additionally, participants who paid
more for their units than the $117.82/unit payout value could receive their contributions
back (including monthly finance charges for Custom Monthly Plan participants) to ensure

" GET has been clear in communications to customers that federal taxes and penalties may still apply to any account
earnings if refunds are not deposited into another qualified 529 plan within 60 days.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 15



they did not lose any principal. This special refund window was made effective September
2, 2015 through December 15, 2016.8 Criteria for this decision included:

e The committee determined that this decision was the right thing to do for participants.
While participants did sign a contract acknowledging the limitations of the GET
guarantee and available refund options when enrolling in the program, marked
changes in future tuition growth policy fundamentally changed the underlying growth
assumptions in ways that the committee and GET participants did not foresee.

e Allowing penalty-free refunds provided participants who were reconsidering the
value they were getting out of the program a mechanism to rollover their GET funds
into another 529 plan and continue their college savings efforts.

e This option mitigated legal risk. While the committee believed that the GET Master
Agreement (the contract between the program and GET participants) provided
sufficient legal protection, a decision to not waive refund fees could still have
presented a risk of future legal disputes. Such legal disputes could have proven
costly even if the state prevailed.

e The healthy funded status of the program allowed for this penalty-free refund
window without presenting undue financial risk that the program would could not
meet its future financial obligations to participants. At the time of the decision, the
program account was 140 percent funded, as measured by the OSA at June 30, 2015.
The committee projected that if all customers who paid $163 or $172 for their units,
and were within eight years of using their benefits (those the committee deemed to
be most likely to refund their accounts) took advantage of this refund window, the
program would pay out approximately $200 million. The impact of this policy
decision could decrease the program’s funded status by as much as five percent.

Key Finding
The committee determined the GET fund could bear temporary policy changes affecting
the program’s penalty for withdrawal and remain financially solvent. The committee
authorized a temporary refund window, effective September 2, 2015 - December 15, 2016,
allowing participants to refund their GET accounts without state penalties.

Participant Response and Associated Impacts

While the committee was confident that GET would remain a valuable college savings
resource for years to come, it was clear that some participants wished to seek other options
for their college savings. The committee chose to hold these participants harmless.

8 At the April 20, 2016 GET Committee Meeting, several committee members expressed interest in extending this
penalty-free refund window. If the committee chooses to extend this deadline, the final report to the legislature will
reflect this decision.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 16



At the time of this report, GET participants have taken $310 million in refunds on 15,400
accounts. This represents approximately 12 percent of accounts that were active as of June
30, 2015. As anticipated, preliminary figures show that participants who have purchased

units at prices of $163 or higher make up the majority of participants who have taken

penalty-free refunds since June 30, 2015 (nearly 60 percent). In total, participants have
requested refunds on approximately 23 percent of all accounts opened since 2011, and 15
percent of all accounts containing at least one unit purchased at unit prices of $163 or

greater. These preliminary figures are summarized in Figure 6 below:

Figure 6: GET Penalty-Free Refunds since September 2, 20159

Dollar value of all refunds $310,163,837
Number of accounts refunded 15,427
Proportion of all accounts refunded that were active as of 12.1%
June 30, 3015

Number of accounts opened since May 1, 2011 refunded 5,820
Proportion of accounts refunded opened since May 1, 2011 23%
refunded

Number of accounts refunded with at least one $163/$172 7,049
unit

Proportion of accounts refunded with at least one $163/$172 15%
unit

Anecdotally, the program has found that many participants are choosing to wait on

deciding about whether to refund or leave their GET accounts as-is. Participants choosing
to wait are wanting to learn more about the new unit purchase price, the on-going assumed
rate of return (based on future tuition growth and/or any potential program adjustments),
and what additional in-state college savings options (i.e. a 529 college savings plan) may

come available in the near future. At the time of this report, the penalty-free refund

window remains open. The committee has also discussed extending this window until the
proposed 529 college savings program opens, but a final decision has not been made at the
time of this report. The GET committee will provide an update on refund statistics and

resulting impacts to the program once this refund window closes.

% Note that these are preliminary figures, and do not account for adjustments due to other account actions taken by

participants, such as downgrades, conversions and transfers.

Washington Student Achievement Council

Page 17



IV. CONCLUSION

Based upon the findings in this report, the GET Committee offers the following
observations to the Legislature:

1)

2)

3)

4)

Generally speaking, decreasing tuition rates have significantly improved the funded
status of the GET program, based on measurements provided by the OSA. If the
current statutory future tuition growth model holds, future unit prices will likely
start out lower than the amortization-adjusted unit prices since May 2011.

The 529 industry is still growing and there is evidence that there is sufficient state
resident demand for a Washington-based 529 college savings program. The
committee is still exploring the feasibility of different options for establishing a 529
college savings program at the time of this report, and is currently engaged in a
formal procurement process to seek vendor proposals for investment and program
management services. The committee is considering possible structures ranging
from a fully-contracted plan to a blended approach, where the state retains certain
program management aspects and contracts for investment management and other
services.

The committee does not recommend cost of attendance as a basis for the GET
payout. This metric contains expenses outside of the scope of what 529 plans are
designed to cover. Designing a payout based on a benchmark that includes costs
outside of the IRS-approved “qualified higher education expenses,” could expose
GET participants to unintended tax consequences. Alternative payout structures,
such as weighted-average tuition models, are viable but need further exploration.

The committee determined that the GET program could bear temporary policy
changes affecting the program’s penalty for withdrawal and remain financially
solvent. The committee authorized a temporary refund window, effective
September 2, 2015 - December 15, 2016, allowing participants to refund their GET
accounts without state penalties. The committee has also discussed extending this
window until the proposed 529 college savings program opens, but have not
reached a final decision at the time of this report.

As described above, the items covered in this report will require continued research and
analysis. The GET Committee will provide updates as work progresses on developing a 529
college savings plan and preparing for GET's 2017 reopening to new enrollments and unit
purchases.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 18



APPENDIX A

HIRSCHLER
FLEISCHER

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

MEMORANDUM

TO: Betty Lochner

FROM: James W. C. Canup
DATE: December 1, 2015

RE: 529 College Savings Plan

You have requested a memorandum that analyzes the investment components and the fee
structure found in direct-sold, college savings plans (as opposed to prepaid plans) that are
qualified under Section 529 of the Code of 1986, as amended (Code).

Overview

There are currently 101 open 529 Plans in the U.S. There are 19 prepaid plans (including
both traditional prepaid plans and unit or guaranteed savings plans), nine of which are
open for enrollment during some portion of the year (typically, prepaid plans have a
limited enrollment period so as to determine a pricing model for that year’s enrollment),
and the ten remaining prepaid plans are either suspended or closed. In addition, there are
61 direct-sold, college savings plans and there are 31 advisor-sold, college savings plans.
This memorandum is focused on direct-sold, college savings plans (i.e., those plans sold
directly to an investor by State or governmental entity and without having to go through a
registered broker-dealer or broker to invest in the program).

Investments

Typically, direct-sold, college savings plans offer a menu of investment options, often
referred to as portfolios (Portfolios). An offering in a Portfolio is often referred to as a unit
(“Unit”). An investor/account owner invests in Units, not the underlying investments that
comprise a Unit. The direct-sold, college savings plan invests on an aggregate basis in the
underlying investments that comprise the Units.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 19



Appendix A

Sales of Units in a Portfolio are considered to be municipal fund securities under the
Securities Laws! and the rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB) and
the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA)z2. So long as Units are
offered directly by a State (or an instrumentality or an agency of a State) by employees in
the course of their duties as employees of the State (or an instrumentality or an agency of a
State), the Units do not have to be registered with any federal agency and are not subject to
the Securities Laws of the U.S., except for the anti-fraud provisions of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, and those employees are not required to be registered or licensed
pursuant to the Securities Laws. If a State engages a program manager or other third-party
to help sell Units in a Portfolio, that third-party will be subject to the various requirements
imposed under the Securities Laws and the rules of the MSRB and FINRA.

Age-Based Portfolios

Investments offered by direct-sold, college savings plans consist of a variety of types of
Portfolios. Every direct-sold, college savings plan offers at least one (1) age-based Portfolio.
Generally, an age-based Portfolio is a Portfolio that invests predominantly in equities in the
early years and transitions over time to more conservative investments such as bonds and
money-market or cash investments as the beneficiary nears or reaches enrollment at an
institution of higher education. The transitions over time are typically referred to as age
bands, usually in three-year increments (sometimes in two or four-year increments, or
combinations of two, three and four-year increments).

Some direct-sold, college savings plans offer three age-based Portfolios (typically, a
conservative, moderate and aggressive age-based Portfolio), and a few offer four or more
age-based Portfolios. Utah’s direct-sold, college savings plan offers the nation’s only
“customized” age-based Portfolio. Under that plan an investor can make a one-time
selection when opening the account among a menu of underlying investments to tailor the
investments of the age-based Portfolio for each of the age bands. The decision of how
conservative or aggressive those investments are for each age band is made by the
investor/account owner and where those investments ultimately transition to at or near
enrollment in an institution of higher education is also determined by the investor/account
owner (as opposed to the investor selecting from the pre-formed age-based Portfolios
offered by the direct-sold, college savings plan).

These age-based Portfolios are sometimes referred to as “set it and forget it” Portfolios
(they are also seen as akin to target date fund investments offered by retirement plans).
Age-based Portfolios are popular with account owners who invest in direct-sold, college

! The applicable Securities Laws include, the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Investment Company Act of 1940, the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, and the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform Act. A discussion of these various Acts is beyond the scope of this memorandum.
2 A discussion of the rules imposed by the MSRB and FINRA is beyond the scope of this memorandum.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 20



Appendix A

savings plans. More money invested in direct-sold, college savings plans is invested in age-
based Portfolios than any other type of Portfolio.

Static Portfolios

In addition to age-based Portfolios, every direct-sold, college savings plan also offers
additional Portfolios. Some direct-sold, college savings plans offer as many as 20 or more
Portfolios; the range of Portfolios offered is from a low of four to a high of 32 Portfolios.
These Portfolios are often referred to as Static Portfolios because unlike the age-based
Portfolios these underlying investments in the Static Portfolios do not change over time as
the beneficiary of the 529 account nears or reaches enrollment age at an institution of
higher education.

There are many different types of Static Portfolios offered by the various direct-sold,
college savings plans. Some of these Static Portfolios consist of a so-called balance fund that
include underlying investments in equities, bonds, and a money-market or savings account.
The allocations within these balanced Static Portfolios is usually between 55 to 70% in
equities and 30 to 45% in bonds and/or money-market or savings account.

Another form of Static Portfolio is a Portfolio where the underlying investments mimic or
replicate a recognized index, such as the S&P 500 or the Russell 2000. Some Static
Portfolios have underlying investments in a mix of U.S. large-cap, mid-cap and small-cap
equities. Other Static Portfolios have underlying investments in U.S. equities, developed
and emerging markets. Still other Static Portfolios only invest in one type of investment
such as bonds, U.S. Treasuries, or a savings account that is subject to FDIC insurance. Utah'’s
direct-sold, college savings plan offers the nation’s only “customized” Static Portfolio.
Under that plan an investor can make a one-time selection when opening the account
among a menu of underlying investments to tailor the investments of the Static Portfolio.
The decision of how conservative or aggressive those investments are and the allocations
among the investments selected is made by the investor/account owner.

Investment Line Up Recommendation

At a minimum, the State-run, direct-sold, college savings plan must offer at least one age-
based Portfolio and at least two Static Portfolios - one that is a form of a balanced fund and
one that provides a conservative investment such as bonds, money market and/or savings
account. Additional Static Portfolios can be added to the program over time as the
Committee and its investment advisors deem appropriate.

The Washington State Investment Board (WSIB) has indicated that it has the capability to
offer these types of Portfolios from the outset of any Washington direct-sold, college
savings plan that is offered. More importantly, the WSIB has also indicated that it can offer
both a customized age-based Portfolio and a customized Static Portfolio. A direct-sold,
college savings plan offered by the State of Washington would then be the second 529 Plan
in the country to offer such customized Portfolios.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 21



Appendix A

Fees

There are several fees that an account owner of a Portfolio incurs by virtue of their
investment. These include program manager fees, record-keeper fees, State fees, fees for
the underlying investments (often referred to as the expense ratio), and other program or
administrative fees (such as account opening fee, annual account maintenance fee, mailing
fees, and transaction based fees). The trend in the past decades has been for these fees to
be lowered as total assets under management in a 529 Plan have increased.

A State-run, direct-sold, college savings plan that does not outsource any functions to third
parties would not charge a program manager fee, record-keeper fee and State fee, but
instead would only charge one fee. To the extent any record-keeping function is
outsourced, a separate record-keeper’s fee would then apply, whether stated separately or
included as part of the program manager’s or State’s fee.

Program Manager Fees/State Fees

Of the 61 direct-sold, college savings plans, seven do not charge a program manager fee or
a State fee. Four of these seven plans are stand-alone bank or CD product 529 Plans and do
not offer any other Portfolios; in addition, within the remaining direct-sold, college savings
plans that have a Static Portfolio whose underlying investment is a bank or CD product
many of those plans also do not charge a program manager fee with respect to that
Portfolio. Some of the banks that provide the underlying bank or CD product for those
Static Portfolios or the stand-alone, bank or CD product 529 Plans pay a fee directly to the
State rather than having the plan charge a program manager fee to the investor.

The only three traditional direct-sold, college savings plans that do not charge a program
manager fee are Louisiana, South Carolina and South Dakota. All three programs limit their
enrollment to account owners or beneficiaries who are State residents. South Carolina also
has an advisor-sold, college savings plans on which it receives 10 basis points (0.10%). As
of June 2015, the SC advisor-sold plan had approximately $1.6 billion in assets under
management, resulting in an annual State fee of $1.6 million to the State Treasurer’s Office
of South Carolina to help pay for all of its 529 Plans. The SC direct-sold plan had
approximately $800 million in assets under management as of June 2015 in approximately
39,000 accounts.

The Louisiana 529 Plan is subsidized by the State of Louisiana. The amount of the subsidy
is not disclosed. Assets under management as of June 2015 for the Louisiana 529 Plan was
approximately $630 million in assets under management in over 52,000 accounts. The LA
529 Plan does not have a private program manager but is instead a State run, direct-sold,
college savings plan.

It is not clear whether the South Dakota 529 Plan is subsidized by the State of South Dakota
or if the State receives a payment directly from its Program Manager, Allianz Global
Investors, which also manages the State’s advisor-sold, college savings plan. As of June

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 22



Appendix A

2015, the combined SD 529 Plans had approximately $1.2 billion in assets under
management in approximately 38,000 accounts but these numbers are not broken out
between the direct-sold and advisor-sold plans.

The Commonwealth of Virginia has a direct-sold, college savings plan that is run by the
Virginia College Savings Plans, an agency of the State. The direct-sold, college savings plan
charges 15 basis points (0.15%) for its program manager fee. As of June 2015, this program
had over $3 billion in assets under management in approximately 200,000 accounts
resulting in fee income of approximately $4.5 million. In addition, Virginia has the largest
529 Plan in the country, an advisor-sold, college savings plan with approximately $50
billion in assets under management as of June 2015, in over 2.1 million accounts. The
Virginia College Savings Plans collects a State fee of 10 basis points (0.10%) on the advisor
sold plan resulting in an annual State fee of approximately $50 million.

The State of Utah runs a direct-sold, college savings plan that is run by the Utah Educational
Savings Plan. The Utah plan had approximately $8.4 billion in assets under management as
of June 2015 in approximately 280,000 accounts. The Utah Plan charges a State program
manager fee that ranges from 11 to 20 basis points (0.11% to 0.20%) depending on the
Portfolio selected (Utah residents who invest in the State’s Public Treasurers’ Investment
Fund Portfolio do not pay any fee). The average State program manager fee is
approximately 18 basis points (0.18%) resulting in annual fee income of approximately
$15 million.

The State of Florida has one of the largest prepaid programs in the nation (with
approximately $10.6 billion) and also has a direct-sold, college savings plan - the Florida
College Investment Plan. That program had approximately $420 million in assets under
management in over 45,000 accounts as of June 2015. Florida runs its own program and
charges a program management fee of between 39 and 75 basis points (0.39 - 0.75%) that
includes the underlying investment expenses. It is not clear what the amount of the total
fees paid to the Florida programs equals.

The State of North Carolina is another program that is run by a State agency, the NC College
Foundation. The program charges a program manager fee of 25 basis points (0.25%) on
assets under management of approximately $1.7 billion as of June 2015 in approximately
130,000 accounts resulting in annual fees of approximately $4.25 million.

Tennessee just recently re-opened its direct-sold, college savings plan after an unsuccessful
attempt to “merge” its prior plan with the State of Georgia. The new Tennessee direct-sold,
college savings plans had assets under management of approximately $33 million in
approximately 7,200 accounts. The TNStars program is operated through the State
Treasurer’s office (as is its closed prepaid program). The program management fee is
currently capped at 35 basis points (0.35%) and includes the underlying investment fees of
its Portfolios. The State of Tennessee provides a subsidy to the program that is believed to
be approximately $1.5 million.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 23



Appendix A

The great majority of States do not run their own programs but instead have engaged a
third-party program manager to run their direct-sold, college savings plans. These States
collect a separately stated fee that ranges from 0 basis points to up to 45 basis points (0.00
- 0.45%) depending on the Portfolio. Some of the States that do not charge any State fee
either receive a subsidy from the program managers (Kansas receives at least $1 million
adjusted upwards for inflation across its three programs). Other direct-sold programs
count on fee income generated by the State’s companion advisor-sold program to support
the direct-sold program.

Underlying Expense Ratio

The underlying expense ratios are based on the types of investments that make up a
Portfolio. Those fees generally run from 0 basis points to as high as 166 basis points
(0.00% - 1.66%). The Portfolios that have underlying expense ratios of 0 basis points
(0.00%) are invested in bank or CD products.

Total Expense Ratio

For many investors the total expense ratio (that is the total of the underlying fees and all
State and program manager fees) is the number that matters. The 61 direct-sold, college
savings plans have total expense ratios that run from a low of 11 basis points (I have
excluded the 0 basis point attributable to bank or CD products) to a high of 214 basis points
(2.14%) depending on the Portfolio selected by the account owner/investor. The great
majority of direct-sold, college savings plans strive to stay within 20 to 45 basis points
(0.20% - 0.45%) in total expense ratios. However, many such programs have total expense
ratios that exceed this range. In fact, according to the study by Strategic Insight, the average
total expense ratios in the second quarter of 2015 was 73 basis points (0.73%).

Other Program Fees

Other annual program or administrative fees are not included in calculating the total
expense ratio. Therefore, they must also be considered when looking at the “all in” costs of
an investment in a 529 Plan. While enrollment or application fees were previously more
common, only one direct-sold, college savings plan (DC) charges an application fee - in
amount equal to $25 to non-resident of the District of Columbia.

Account maintenance fees are more common with 22 direct-sold, college savings plans
charging annual fees that range from $10 to $30, which often is waived (i) for non-
residents, (ii) on accounts above a minimum threshold (from $10,000 to $25,000), (iii) on
accounts with recurring contributions through an automatic payment plan, or (iv) for those
account owners who elect to receive all communications via email rather than regular mail.
However, most 529 Plans do charge for certain transaction-based fees, such as fees for
wiring funds, returned check fees, over-night delivery fees, and other similar fees.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 24



Appendix A

Most competitive direct-sold, college savings plans do not have either enrollment or annual
account maintenance fees. Many of these plans have been very successful at moving their
account owners to electronic delivery of disclosure materials and quarterly and annual
account statements, which substantially reduces costs for the 529 Plans. However, account
owners must elect electronic delivery of these communications and cannot be defaulted
into electronic delivery of any disclosure materials.

Disclosure

Every direct-sold, college savings plan must have an offering document that describes the
Portfolios offered and the risks associated with those Portfolios,

e discloses the fees that an investor will incur by investing in a Portfolios,

e provides the performance of the various Portfolios over time,

e describes the rules of the 529 Plan and the process for opening, maintaining, and
making withdrawals from an account with the 529 Plan,

e provides a summary of the tax considerations in investing a 529 Plan, and

e discloses the administration and other relevant information of the 529 Plan.

The offering document must be compliant with the Disclosure Principles adopted by the
College Savings Plans Network.

In addition, it is an industry best practice that marketing material should strive to be
compliant with the rules promulgated by the MSRB and enforced by FINRA (although,
marketing materials issued directly made by a State or agency or instrumentality of a State
is not subject to the MSRB and FINRA rules, only the anti-fraud provisions of the Securities
Laws.

Targeted Marketing

A State-run, direct-sold, college savings plan offers the opportunity for robust, targeted
marketing of the State’s college savings plan to all portions of the State or to targeted
under-served communities. Typically, a State-run program puts more marketing dollars
and emphasis on reaching all segments of the State’s population. Having marketing dollars
and marketing talent spent in-State by in-State based personnel who both understand 529
Plans and their State’s needs is usually seen as an advantage that State-run programs have
over those programs run by out-of-state third party program managers who tend to focus
on more national campaigns and also on individuals with higher income in limited pockets
within a State.

Other Considerations

Like the GET program, a State-run, direct-sold, college savings plan will need to have a call
center, a web site with IT support, and record-keeping capabilities to serve its account
owners/investors and beneficiaries. The Banner record-keeping program currently used

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 25



Appendix A

by GET has the ability to provide record-keeping for both a prepaid and a direct-sold,
college savings plan.

All of these functions are currently provided in-house by GET and to some extent will need
to be continued by GET even if the Committee decides not to re-open GET or not to create a
new prepaid 529 Plan. Leveraging the GET platform to provide these functions to a State-
run, direct-sold, college savings plan in addition to GET may prove to be cost effective. In
addition, the Committee can also look to see what third-party record keepers would charge
to provide these functions.

Incentives to Consider

One of the questions raised by Committee members has been what incentives could a
direct-sold, college savings plan run by the State of Washington offer to investors to make it
more attractive to its residents. First and foremost, the two most important features to
offer are (1) the investment line up found in the Portfolios and (2) the fees charged. Since
the State of Washington does not have an individual State income tax a tax deduction or
credit is not possible.

State Creditor Protections

Many States offer creditor protection to their residents who invest in their State’s 529 Plan.
These provisions typically provide that amounts invested in the State’s 529 Plan are
protected under State law from the reach of creditors. Typically, the amounts contributed
must have been invested in the State’s 529 Plan for a minimum period of time that varies
from State to State. This protection is in addition to the federal bankruptcy protection
afforded to all 529 Plan account owners who declare bankruptcy.

Financial Aid Exclusion

Some States provide that for State financial aid purposes, investors/account owners of the
State’s 529 Plan will not have those accounts included among their assets when making a
determination with regard to State financial aid treatment. Currently, 23 States provide
that the resident’s 529 Plan account will not be considered when awarding State financial
aid treatment. This encourages individuals to open and fund 529 Plan accounts without
fear that their eligibility for State financial aid will be jeopardized. Anecdotally, 529 Plans
have found that (other than individuals’ procrastination) one of the impediments to
opening accounts is the fear that the family and beneficiary will be precluded from
obtaining financial aid to help pay for higher education if they open a 529 Plan.

At the federal level, the Department of Higher Education has been moving to remove this
fear as an impediment. Currently, 529 Plan accounts owned by either parents or a
beneficiary are included as a parental asset for FASFA purposes but only up to a maximum
5.6% for purposes of calculating the expected family contribution (EFC). Further
distributions from a 529 Plan in any calendar year are from these accounts are not included

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 26



Appendix A

as income to the beneficiary, which otherwise could have resulted in a maximum inclusion
of up to 50% for purposes of calculating the beneficiary’s EFC. The Department of Higher
Education is currently considering increasing the types of assets that are excluded on the
FASFA and among those potentially excludable assets are 529 Plan accounts.

Matching Fund Programs

Another incentive to consider is the possibility of matching funds when residents invest in
the State’s direct-sold, college savings plan. Many States offer small incentives at different
times during the year to encourage residents to open and fund accounts in the State’s
direct-sold, college savings plans. These incentives usually take the form of matches to
contributions made to an account. The matches are usually capped each year and may only
be available for limited periods.

Some States have more formal matching programs that are targeted to specific segments of
the State’s population. For example, some States provide for a matching contribution to an
account for every newborn when an account is opened for that child. Some other States
provide for a matching contribution to an account for a beneficiary where the family’s
income is within certain percentages of the poverty line; for example, 200% of the State’s
federal poverty line for a family of four. Matching funds could be provided to 529 accounts
opened for children who are eligible for free or reduced school lunches or to accounts
opened for children who would be first-generation college attendees. Whatever metrics the
State choses to use, a matching program could be used to encourage residents to open and
fund accounts either on a State wide basis or on a targeted basis.

Scholarships

A number of States have teamed up with foundations and other charitable entities to
provide scholarships for some or all of their residents through the State’s 529 Plan. Maine
provides a scholarship through its 529 Plan for every child born in the State of Maine by
virtue of a partnership with the Harold Alfond College Challenge and Alfond Scholarship
Fund. Other States have created scholarship programs that are directed to disadvantaged
populations based on income, race, residence in certain areas of a State, or other targeted
criteria. Some States, such as Louisiana, use their 529 Plans as a mechanism for awarding
scholarships to residents who meet certain criteria.

Rewards Program

Twenty-five direct-sold, college savings plans have an affiliation with a rewards program
that allows account owners to earn credit to be applied to their 529 Plan account. These
programs typically are either with major credit card companies or with the Upromise
rewards service.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 27



Appendix A

Conclusions

With the suspension of the GET program, the State of Washington and the State of
Wyoming are the only two States that do not currently offer a 529 Plan. A State sponsored,
direct-sold, college savings plan that (1) leverages the infrastructure and platform provided
by the GET program, (2) provides attractive investments options in its Portfolios including
the possibility of offering customized Portfolios, and (3) has an “all in” fee structure that is
under 45 basis points (0.45%) could be a very attractive and competitive 529 Plan for the
residents of the State of Washington. In addition, the ability to market the program
throughout the State and to target populations that may otherwise not have access to
vehicles to finance their higher education not only serves those residents but also serves
the interest of all the residents of the State by helping to educate the population, raise the
quality of life for all Washington residents, and keep and attract employers to the State.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 28



APPENDIX B

Washington State 529 Savings Plan:
Market Analysis

Presented to:
GET Committee
December 3, 2015

Washington Student Achievement Council




Appendix B

Overview

In the October 7, 2015 GET Committee meeting, Committee members expressed interest in learning
more about the market potential if Washington State were to offer a 529 College Savings Plan. This
analysis provides a high-level snapshot of key insights to help evaluate such market potential. The report
starts with a review of relevant data from two recent GET customer surveys, follows with an overview of
demographic profiles of GET’s customer and Washington State citizens, national college savings
attitudes and the 529 plan environment in other states, and concludes with a discussion of findings.

In reviewing this report, it is also important to keep in mind that in addition to meeting market demand,
it is important to continue providing Washington families with college savings options. Time and time
again, studies find that higher levels of education are associated with higher levels of income security,
better job prospects, and a stronger economy. An often cited study from Washington University in St.
Louis finds that children who know there is a college savings account in their name are seven times
more likely to succeed in school and go on to college.! This illustrates the point that 529 plans are more
than just simple savings tools. They also allow families to show ongoing support for their children’s
future success and reinforce the importance of education.

Insights from Recent GET Surveys

In the past 18 months, GET has conducted two customer surveys in order to develop a sense of what
account owners value when it comes to their college savings. Each survey included questions specifically
related to how GET customers are currently saving or plan on saving for their children’s college
education in addition to their GET account.

The first survey was conducted March-April 2014, and received over 7300 responses.
Three of the questions asked provide helpful insight for this analysis:

e “In addition to GET, what other ways are you planning to fund your child’s college expenses?”
(Please select an answer for each “savings method” listed below.)

- The most popular savings options already e sss savings pian I -
being used by respondents were: e
1.) Savings Account (32%)
2.) Mutual Funds (17%) individual stocks/bonds || NG =
3.) Scholarships (15%) savings account [ .
4.) Other 529 Savings Plans (15%) — .

5.) Individual Stocks & Bonds (15%)

% of Repsondents Already Saving with Option

The savings mechanisms that respondents

R . Student will be employed _ 35%
were most likely or likely to use were:
1.) Scholarships (44%) Loun I -
2.) Student will be Employed (35%) crants [ -
3.) Loans (29%) schotarships [ A -
4) Grants (27%) Family assistance _ 26%
5.) Family Assistance (26%) seiings soiowic: I %

6.) Savings Account (21%)

% of Respondents Who are "Most Likely" or "Likely" to Use Option

1 Source: Center for Social Development, Washington University in St. Louis (2010).
http://csd.wustl.edu/Publications/Documents/WP10-01.pdf

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 30


http://csd.wustl.edu/Publications/Documents/WP10-01.pdf

Appendix B
- The savings mechanisms that respondents other 529 savines plon (N -

were not planning to use at all were: ramily assistance || | | | | N N =+
1) Custodial Accounts (66%) Individual stocks/bonds _ 50%
2.) Other 529 Savings Accounts (57%) .
3.) Individual Stocks & Bonds (50%)
4) Mutual FUndS (50%) Custodial account (UGMA/UTMA) _ 66%
5) Famlly Assistance (35%) % of Respondents Not Planning to Use Option

e “How often do you contribute to your GET account?”
0 Over half of respondents (52%) contribute to their GET account at least once per year.
¢ “What are the main reasons you chose to open an account with GET? (choose up to three)”

0 More than four out of five respondents (82%) referenced the state guarantee as a
primary reason for choosing GET.

0 Other high-ranking reasons for
opening a GET account included:

=  The ability to use GET at any
public or private school in the
country (63%)

= To avoid paying higher tuition 37% 38%
later (51%)

= Growth and withdrawals are
tax free (38%)

= To prevent the need for

82%

63%

51%

21%

taking out future loans (37%) Prevent Guarantee Tax-free Canbeused Avoid Can be
need for growth & nationwide paying transferred
b Can be transferred to Other loans withdrawals higher to others

tuition

family members (21%)

The second survey was conducted October 2014, and received 190 responses.
One especially relevant question from this survey was:

o “If GET were to offer a 529 Savings Plan in addition to our current 529 Prepaid Tuition Plan,
would you be interested in investing in a savings plan?”

0 Over 55% of respondents said they would be interested in a 529 Savings Plan option,
though several noted in their open-ended comments that they had a number of
questions about how the plan would work and benefit them. Other open-ended
feedback from respondents who expressed interest in a 529 Savings Plan included:

= Several respondents said they would be interested in a 529 Savings Plan
because of the tax incentives, the ability to diversify their investments, and to
balance the tuition advantage of GET with a more traditional investment.

=  QOther advantages of a 529 Savings Plan mentioned by respondents included: the
ability for parents with older children in middle and high school to have an in-
state investment option, the capability for families to save for other expenses
like room and board, books and other expenses beyond tuition and fees; and
the opportunity to have an investment that could keep up with the cost of
attendance at private and/or out-of-state schools.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 31



Appendix B

0 Approximately 45% of respondents said they would not be interested in a 529 Savings
Plan. Open ended feedback included:

= Some respondents had concerns about the risk associated with investments tied
to securities products.

= Respondents also noted that fees and fund performance would play a critical
role in determining if they would invest in a 529 College Savings Plan or not.

= Some respondents also said that they can barely afford to save for college as it
is and more plans are not going to help, but rather make it more confusing.

What these survey results tell us.

These results indicate that there may be a potential market for a 529 College Savings Plan within GET’s
existing customer base of over 75,000. According to customer feedback, having an affordable and
competitive product would be absolutely important in determining the value and role of such a planin a
family’s college savings strategy. It should be noted that GET customers compose a relatively small
subset of the Washington State population. The next section will address the state-level demographics
to provide a sense of the current untapped market potential.

GET Customer Profiles

When it comes to customer profiles and demographics, it is likely that the typical 529 Savings Plan
customer will carry many of the same attributes as our current GET customers. More than 50% of GET
customers are female with household incomes greater than $100,000. Customers are typically highly
educated with more than 80% of account owners having a bachelor’s degree at minimum. The majority
of customers are parents of young children with close to 60% of account owners ranging in age from 35
to 54. A growing segment of customers are grandparents and in the latest GET customer survey, 14% of
customers describe themselves as grandparents, up 2% from the previous survey.

State-Level Demographics

In terms of market potential, it is important to consider the number and characteristics of children
under the age of 18 living in Washington State. According to the U.S. Census Bureau,? as of 2014, there
were approximately:

e 7,061,530 people living in Washington State.
0 445,000 children under the age of five.
0 1,158,000 children ages five to seventeen.
According to the Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction® there are:
e 1,070,756 school age youth enrolled in public schools in the state of Washington.

0 Of these students, 482,024 (45%) receive free or reduced price meal benefits.

2 Source: U.S. Census Bureau. (2015). http://www.census.gov/quickfacts.
3 Source: Washington State Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction. (2015).
http://reportcard.ospi.k12.wa.us/summary.aspx?schoolld=1&reportLevel=State&year=2014-15&yrs=2014-15.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 32


http://www.census.gov/quickfacts
http://reportcard.ospi.k12.wa.us/summary.aspx?schoolId=1&reportLevel=State&year=2014-15&yrs=2014-15

Appendix B

National College Savings Attitudes

It is equally important to consider the attitudes and behaviors of parents regarding college savings.
According to a recent, large-scale national survey conducted by Sallie Mae*:

o Approximately 48% of parents with children under 18 years old were saving for college.
e On average, parents saving for college have saved $10,040.

0 Interestingly, single-parent families report saving more than the average: $11,868.
e Approximately 27% of parents saving for college use 529 plans.

e More than two out of five (43%) of parents not currently saving for college plan to begin saving
in the near future.

The current 529 plan landscape should also be considered. According to the College Savings Plans
Network,® as of June 30, 2015:

e Total investment by U.S. families in 529 plans reached a record $253.2 billion.
e Approximately 12.33 Million 529 plan accounts have been opened nationwide.

e The average 529 plan account has over $20,934.

529 Plans in Other States

In examining the 529 plan landscape, it is also important to consider the number of existing 529 College
Savings Plans nationally. There are a total 92 529 College Savings Plans in 48 states and the District of
Columbia, with varying models of plan management. Eight of those plans are managed directly by their
state (a management option that the Committee has expressed significant interest in). The states
managing their own plans are summarized below in Table 1.

Table 1 - Self-Managed State 529 College Savings Plans

Florida* $419,859,089 45,828 19,893,297 Neutral
Louisiana $629,364,974 52,514 4,649,676 Not Rated
North Carolina $1,689,489,102 129,092 9,943,964 Neutral
Ohiot $4,343,900,936 260,598 11,594,163 Silver
Pennsylvania* $1,876,328,649 91,523 12,787,209 Neutral
Tennessee $32,864,591 7,235 6,549,352 Not Rated
Utah $8,356,777,744 277,960 2,942,902 Gold
Virginia*+ $3,077,830,427 197,115 8,326,289 Silver

*FL, OH, and VA each also offer an active prepaid tuition plan.
tVA and OH also offer an advisor sold plan.

4 Source: Sallie Mae. (2015). How America Saves for College 2015.
http://news.salliemae.com/sites/salliemae.newshg.businesswire.com/files/doc_library/file/HowAmericaSaves2015 F
INAL .pdf

5> Source: College Savings Plans Network. (2015). 2015 Mid-Year 529 Report. http://www.collegesavings.org/wp-
content/uploads/2015/09/0909 CSPN_MidYearCS-1-FINAL.jpg.

6 Source: U.S. Census Bureau. (2015). http://www.census.gov/quickfacts.

" Source: Morningstar. (2015). http://news.morningstar.com/articlenet/article.aspx?id=718259.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 33



http://news.salliemae.com/sites/salliemae.newshq.businesswire.com/files/doc_library/file/HowAmericaSaves2015_FINAL.pdf
http://news.salliemae.com/sites/salliemae.newshq.businesswire.com/files/doc_library/file/HowAmericaSaves2015_FINAL.pdf
http://www.collegesavings.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/0909_CSPN_MidYearCS-1-FINAL.jpg
http://www.collegesavings.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/0909_CSPN_MidYearCS-1-FINAL.jpg
http://www.census.gov/quickfacts
http://news.morningstar.com/articlenet/article.aspx?id=718259

Appendix B

Nearby west coast states (Alaska, California, Oregon, Idaho) also offer 529 plans. Details on these plans
are summarized in Table 2 below. It should be noted that these plans are all managed by third parties.

Table 2 — Nearby West Coast State 529 College Savings Plans

Alaska (2 plans) $6,395,105,750 235,323 736,732 Gold*, Neutral**
California $6,425,318,114 265,941 38,802,500 Silver

Idaho $334,001,759 26,517 1,634,464 Neutral

Oregon (2 plans)  $2,420,995,227 160,808 3,970,239 Bronzet, Neutraltt

*T. Rowe Price College Savings Plan; **John Hancock Freedom 529 Plan
TMEFS 529 Savings Plan; TtOregon College Savings Plan

Case Study for Creating a New Savings Plan

TNStars 529 College Savings Plan Overview?®

The TNStars College Savings 529 Program, launched on September 18,
2012 by the state of Tennessee. The program is a very applicable case
study for this analysis as it is the most recently opened state-managed
529 College Savings Plan.

Tennessee and Washington have many commonalities. Tennessee’s
state population is 6.5 million residents, compared to Washington’s 7

million residents. Additionally, like Washington, Tennessee residents do TNSTARS
not pay a state income tax. Therefore, program leaders understood the COLLEGERJSAVINGS
need to develop special incentives and benefits to encourage residents 529 PROGRAM

to invest in its new 529 College Savings program. This is especially
important given that Tennessee’s BEST Prepaid Tuition program
(similar to GET) recently closed permanently to new enrollments.

Image Source:
www.treasury.state.tn.us

At June 30, 2015, TNStars held a net position totaling $32.8 million with 7,235 accounts.

Program Fee Structures

TNStars offers investment products with a competitive fee structure. The program’s total annual asset-
based fees are currently 0.35 percent (35 basis points) for all investment options except the FDIC-
insured option for which there is no fee. For example, if the account balance is $100, the annual asset-
based fee collected would be $0.35. The program does not charge enrollment or front loaded fees. To
keep fees low, the program’s operating expenses are subsidized through appropriations made by the
State.

Incentives

TNStars has offered multiple financial incentives to Tennessee residents for enrolling in the plan, rolling
over funds from other 529 plans, setting up automatic deposits and for saving for babies in their first
year. When the Tennessee Department of Treasury launched TNStars, they offered a $50 match for the
first $50 invested in a new account and a $100 incentive for new accounts that were rolled over from
other 529 plans. Both incentives were initially offered through December 31, 2012, but were extended
through June 30, 2013 due to popular demand. While participation in the TNStars program is open to
investors nationwide, the incentives are only offered to Tennessee residents.

8 Source (for whole section): Tennessee Treasury Department. (2015). http://www.treasury.state.tn.us/.
Washington Student Achievement Council Page 34


http://www.treasury.state.tn.us/

Appendix B

In September 2014, the State Treasury launched a new special initiative to help low and middle income
families begin their college savings with TNStars. The Tennessee Investments Preparing Scholars (TIPS)
program provides a 4-to-1 contribution match for income eligible families. The minimum deposit
required is $25, and there is a maximum $500 match per student each year. Families may apply for the
TIPS program for up to three years, meaning they could receive up to a $1,500 lifetime benefit per

child. TIPS was designed to help encourage families of all means to start saving early for higher
education expenses. To qualify, a family’s household Adjusted Gross Income must be less than 250
percent of the federal poverty level. TIPS is available to the first 2,000 applicants who qualify. During the
initial nine-month qualifying period, new TNStars accounts were opened for 163 Tennessee children
from families with an average household income of $33,196.14 per year thanks to the TIPS program.

Enroliment and Investment Growth

The most current enrollment information from the TNStars program annual report is provided in the
charts below. These charts give a sense of what a newly-opened, state-managed 529 College Savings
Plan might expect in terms of new enrollments for the first few years of operation. Note that the 2015
data has not been released yet.

TNStars Accounts
300

247.9
250 227.1

190.7

200

157.4 164.9

150 133.4

100

50

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

TNStars Assets (in Millions)
$35.00 $32.80
$30.00
$25.00
$20.00 $17.57

$15.00 $10.94
$10.00 $6.71

$5.00 $2.08 -
$0.00 —
4TH QTR 2ND QTR 4TH QTR 2ND QTR 4TH QTR 2ND QTR

2012 2013 2013 2014 2014 2015

$24.01

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 35



Appendix B

Discussion

In summary, there is likely a market for a 529 Savings Plan in the state of Washington; however, the
plan’s overall performance, fees and benefits to state residents will ultimately determine the plan’s
success. Since Washington State does not have state income tax, a tax deduction benefit for residents is
not an option. Considering other benefits such as creditor protection, corporate tax breaks for
contributions to employee accounts, exemptions from determining state financial aid, and matching
funds for qualifying lower to moderate income households could provide residents with the incentives
to invest their money with Washington’s 529 plan.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 36



APPENDIX C

/’, Washington State
Investment Board

Evaluating Investment Solutions
for the GET College Savings Plan

April 20, 2016

Program Objectives

Goal
o Create a best-in-class, easily accessible College Savings Plan in
fulfilment of Senate Bil G601

Quality

investment ity

offerings: TW-S-0at-

Diversified, < 0.5% in
prudent choices annual total
for college savers fees

Rapid Launch:
Early 2017

Theresa Whitmarsh, Executive Director, WSIB

Washington Student Achievement Council

Page 37



Appendix C

Feasibility and Due Diligence

Legistation provides GET with three options for investment solution
O Select the WsIB as investment manager
o0 Partner with another existing state program

O Saelect outside entity experenced in 529 plans

Key questions for WSIB

o Will our strategic competitive advantages benefit GET 229 savings
program

Access 1o best product offerings’y

Scale?

Compatitive pricingy

O 8 8 O

Do WEIB's programs scale down to serve the needs of self-directed
collzge savings plans, with reguired flexibility and low costy

WSIB Due Diligence

Late 2015 — WSIB begins researching feasibility of direct-sold,
state-run plans

Early 2016 — Deeper evaluation of institutional investment offerings
o Organized an internal team to develop a comprehansive plan
o Stall did extensive research on:
O The direct-sold savings plan environment
O Investment menus
o Participant behavior
o Sought consultants to assist with:
o Menu design
o Manager search
o Dewveloped detailed materials to implement manager search
O ldentified addinonal aperational processes necessany 1o
accommodale new program
O Investment accounting: cash flow notifications, pricing,
unitization, and financial reponting
o Investment compliance
o Performance reporting
O Fee developmant i

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 38



WSIB Due Diligence

Appendix C

. T WEH | o ST i S | e BOTW | ot AP | Jm W00 | M W0 | Wi MR | K 0 | P S
S ] [ ¥
" (TR = 1
T e L) N =
e T e A EAgE: | SuSE | S
i i s a5 . e " .
) Lo O MR SRO0Nl —
Sl o e e s - .
—r Oy | M | D ]
ST
& W GET Dararray Mgrapemen raarmg  rga | @i - -
B oTake wm B ey aed rep R o WU | T
B T e prve Brpa | AGCEHE | SI0XEE s
L e L | W1 | TOLEE e ——————
S w6 VS L i by P, .
¥ iy e il ey | N
B Bk e lm | W TN —
T S s e . SESRR DS TR T w
11 2T Sl w1 On AINE | SINEIE "
S el e T e e e
V0 i B AT, g, AR e RO v TEE
ey N B BT LA
gy Frm Carrsiie ey i (o .
e L
to TFT Careiem e s drmge U Epi oo | RYEE e
g e il S .
e Ry | = -
' | BT
i o s dtnie Tl TR | W "
e s I e ) e TLLVLTR SN (YEMH -
g
L SEE LA ] ——
o
P e L T R o
¥ b ey el ey i e Dy Ll Rt
£
1 T Mt e VT [— — *
P ]
2 ST Cre—— ma— AL EEE By =
Erym
gt i Eoeval | o i
3 e Py Ly [ EE D T —
77 e ey e of e gy b G 15 IT30R IR "
TN ST pmewes e e e o s THEI0ME | |G -
o Farcar pog s cmreg VAT | MR .

Findings and discovery

calleage savings plan

ground-breaking

What we realized based on due diligence

platfarm

college savings plans

o Groundwork would help prepare for a
WEIB was chosen as investment provider

What we thought based on early discussions
O 229 savings plan markelplace might waleome a product similar

to Washington's Deferred Compensation Plan (DCP)
o Our DCP model could be the basis for a new and innovative

o WSIB could help create something new, customized and

‘sprint” work plan if

o WSIB's scale would not ranslate sasily 1o a 529 savings plan

O Temie requiremants would conflict with customizaton afforts
o Existing investment tools used for DCP are not available for

o GET can benefit from direct access to high-guality institutional
mutual funds and ETFs, without WESIB as provider

Washington Student Achievement Council

Page 39



Appendix C

Conclusions

WSIB does not provide the best competitive advantage for 529 plans
o WSIE scale doas not add sigmificant value
o Other institutional mutual funds are directly accessible 10 GET

o Marketplace may evolve toward demand, but not in tme for this
program

Established investment programs are available

O Turn=key platforms exist in marketplace that offer integrated
investing and recordkeeping

O Proven user suitabiity for direct-sold college savings funds
o Lower cost than building a customized solution

Key finding: No added benefit (quality, cost, time) in hawving the WSIB
develop an entirely new investment offering apart from those already
readily available from outside providers.

Role of the WSIB

Legistation prompted WSIB to consider three possibilities
o WSIE as invastmant manager
o WEIB as investment adwvisor

o YWSIB as consultant for general gukdancs

Optimal role - WSIB as consultant
o General program guidance and input (process and investments)
o Aflows GET to run a fully independent, cost-effective program

o Allows GET access to WSIB expertisa where value can be added

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 40



Appendix C

Role of the WSIB

Legistation prompted WSIB to consider three possibilities
o WSIE as invastmant manager
o WEIB as investment adwvisor

o YWSIB as consultant for general gukdancs

Optimal role - WSIB as consultant
o General program guidance and input (process and investments)
o Aflows GET to run a fully independent, cost-effective program

o Alows GET access to WSIB expertisa where value can be added

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 41



APPENDIX D

HIRSCHLER
FLEISCHER

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

MEMORANDUM

TO: Betty Lochner, GET Director
FROM: James W.C. Canup

DATE: August 5, 2015

RE: Cost of Attendance Metric

You have asked that I address the possibility of changing GET tuition payments from being
based on tuition and fees to a cost of attendance metric.

[ recognize that the newly revised Washington statute requires that GET provide to the
legislative fiscal and higher education committee a “list of potential alternatives and
impacts for changing the advanced college tuition payment distribution policy from tuition
and fees to a cost of attendance metric”.

What is cost of attendance?

The first item is to determine what is meant by “a cost of attendance metric”. I'm assuming
it is a reference to the “cost of attendance” formulation that all higher education
institutions that qualify for federal financial aid are required to report to the federal
government and others, and which is used in determining federal financial aid. The
purpose of calculating a cost of attendance is to determine the amount of financial aid an
individual may qualify for at a particular institution.

Cost of attendance is the amount need to cover one year’s expenses at an institution of
higher learning and typically includes:

e tuition and fees,

e books and supplies,

e room and board,

e transportation,

e Joan fees, and

e certain personal costs

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 42



Appendix D

These items are typically calculated for a full time student pursuing undergraduate
education. The cost of attendance for a student who is less than a half-time student is
usually lower and the amount for a graduate student is usually higher.

Each institution is required to determine its own cost of attendance; so the amount can
vary greatly across institutions based on the calculated costs specific to each institution.

Some of the items that fall under the rubric of personal costs, may include certain
dependent care expenses (if applicable), rental or purchase of a personal computer,
expenses associated with eligible study abroad programs, and certain costs related to a
disability.

So the first thing to do is determine if the reference in the Washington statute is meant to
be the same as the term “cost of attendance” that is used for federal financial aid purposes.

Assuming that is the case, we should confirm that the cost of attendance figure that will
apply is the one that will be used by (a) Washington state public institutions for (b)
undergraduate students who (c) are full-time students.

If that is not the case, we should determine that cost of attendance means for purposes of a
GET distribution.

Cost of attendance versus qualified higher education expenses

Cost of attendance (assuming we have the correct definition) is not the same as “qualified
higher education expenses” as defined by Section 529 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the Code).

Section 529(e)(3)(A)(i) of the Code defines, in part, qualified higher education expenses to
mean “tuition, fees, books, supplies, and equipment required for the enrollment or
attendance of a designated beneficiary at an eligible educational institution”.

This definition is not exactly on point with the term cost of attendance since the items
enumerated in Section 529 must be required for enrollment or attendance (emphasis
added). That is not necessarily the case for calculating cost of attendance figures. In
addition, it is not clear whether we should read anything into the addition of the word
“equipment” under the Code, which is not part of the list of items included in cost of
attendance.

Room and board is a qualified higher education expense under Section 529 of the Code but
only if the beneficiary is an eligible student who is at least a half-time student. The cost of
attendance figure does permit some room and board costs for a student who is less than a
half-time student but such payments are not permitted under Section 529. Under section
529, the allowable costs for room and board are tied to the higher of (I) the allowance for
cost of attendance, or (II) if greater, the actual invoice for students residing in housing
owned or operated by the eligible educational institution.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 43



Appendix D

It is clear that transportation and loan fees are not included in qualified higher education
expenses for purposes of Section 529 but are specifically included in the calculation of cost
of attendance.

Computers are an additional item that must be addressed. While they are included in cost
of attendance figures, they do not qualify for purposes of Section 529 unless they are
required as a condition of enrollment or attendance. Passage of H.R. 529 would change this
anomaly.

Disability expenses are another area of confusion. Section 529(e)(3)(A)(ii) of the Code does
include “expenses for special needs services in the case of a special needs beneficiary which
are incurred in connection with such enrollment or attendance” as qualified higher
education expenses. However, no guidance has been provided on what “special needs
services” are or who is covered under the term “special needs beneficiary”. So itis not
possible to tell if these terms are meant to be synonymous with cost related to a disability
used in calculating cost of attendance. In addition, the enactment of ABLE under Section
529A of the Code may have an impact on these definitions. That remains to be seen.

Measures used by other 529 Plans

It is interesting to review what payout metrics typical 529 prepaid plans use. Not
surprisingly the vast majority of prepaid plans tie their payouts to tuition and fees. Some
prepaid plans pay out the amount of tuition and fees actually charged by the institution
covered under the plan, typically only in-state eligible educational institutions (as defined
under Section 529). Others payout an amount based on the weighted average public tuition
and mandatory fees charged by the type of institution (four-year or two-year/community
college). Others tie their payout to the mean weighted credit hour value of the public
institution (either four-year or two-year/community college). Some will pay out the actual
tuition and mandatory fees up to the weighted average for tuition and mandatory fees at
the state’s public institutions (four-year or two-year/community college); while others will
pay out based on the lower amount of these two measures.

Each of the programs also have different payouts if the beneficiary attends a private school
or an out-of-state school (public or private). Some programs provide a payout equal to the
weighted average of the public institutions in that state, some provide a set return on
investment, and some programs differentiate between in-state private schools and out-of-
state schools (public or private) when calculating their payout.

Regardless, all of these programs calculate their payouts based on some metric based on

tuition and mandatory fees (not cost of attendance). Among the open prepaid plans, only
Pennsylvania and Washington have payouts attached to increase credit values, which has
given them the moniker guaranteed savings plan (a form of hybrid prepaid plan).

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 44



Appendix D
Conclusions

It will be important to confirm what is meant by the term “cost of attendance metric”.
Assuming it refers to the calculation made for federal financial aid purposes, it is then
important to recognize that under Section 529, the term cost of attendance covers different
items than qualified higher education expenses.

Only qualified higher education expenses can be paid on a tax-free basis from a 529 Plan,
such as GET. So calculating payouts based on cost of attendance may result in taxable
distributions to account owners. Clearly, that would not be an intended consequence of
moving to a calculation based on cost of attendance. Care will need to be taken to ensure
that does not occur. In addition, cost of attendance is different for each institution so the
GET payments would need to be tailored to each separate institution or some sort of
mechanism would be needed to standardize payments.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 45



APPENDIX E

HIRSCHLER
FLEISCHER

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

MEMORANDUM

TO: Betty Lochner, GET Director

FROM: James W. C. Canup

DATE: February 1, 2016

RE: Alternative Structures for Prepaid 529 Programs

This memorandum is a follow up to my memorandum to you (copy attached) dated August
5, 2015, wherein I addressed the possibility of changing GET tuition payments from being

based on tuition and fees to a cost of attendance metric in response to a feasibility study
required under Washington State legislation. The issues associated with GET payments
based on cost of attendance were identified in that memorandum. This memorandum
addresses other possible metrics that GET payments could be tied to as part of the GET
Committee’s response to the legislatively required feasibility study.

In the memorandum of August 5, 2015, I identified other measures used by 529 prepaid

plans:

Measures used by other 529 Plans

It is interesting to review what payout metrics typical 529 prepaid plans use.
Not surprisingly the vast majority of prepaid plans tie their payouts to tuition
and fees.

Some prepaid plans pay out the amount of tuition and fees actually charged by
the institution covered under the plan, typically only in-state eligible
educational institutions (as defined under Section 529). Others payout an
amount based on the weighted average public tuition and mandatory fees
charged by the type of institution (four-year or two-year/community college).
Others tie their payout to the mean weighted credit hour value of the public
institution (either four-year or two-year/community college). Some will pay
out the actual tuition and mandatory fees up to the weighted average for
tuition and mandatory fees at the state’s public institutions (four-year or two-
year/community college); while others will pay out based on the lower
amount of these two measures.

Washington Student Achievement Council

Page 46



Appendix E

Each of the programs also have different payouts if the beneficiary attends a
private school or an out-of-state school (public or private). Some programs
provide a payout equal to the weighted average of the public institutions in
that state, some provide a set return on investment, and some programs
differentiate between in-state private schools and out-of-state schools (public
or private) when calculating their payout.

Regardless, all of these programs calculate their payouts based on some metric
based on tuition and mandatory fees. Among the open prepaid plans, only
Pennsylvania and Washington have payouts attached to increase credit values,
which has given them the moniker guaranteed savings plan (a form of hybrid
prepaid plan).

Of course, a prepaid program can provide that it will pay the actual tuition and mandatory
fees charged by the in-state public eligible educational institution. This payout can be
provided to both beneficiaries who enroll in an in-state public eligible educational
institution and to those who either attend private eligible educational institutions or out-
of-state public eligible educational institution. This memorandum addresses alternative
models in more detail.

Weighted-Average Tuition Models

While many prepaid programs pay out the actual tuition and mandatory fees charged by
the public eligible educational institution in that state, other prepaid plans use a weighted-
average tuition model (for the type of institution selected, i.e., two-year or four-year
institutions) when calculating the payout to an account owner or beneficiary. This
weighted-average tuition model can occur under multiple scenarios, including, under
certain circumstances, even those plans that pay the actual tuition and fees charged by the
public eligible educational institution in that state.

For example, a prepaid plan that would otherwise pay out the actual tuition and mandatory
fees if the beneficiary attends an in-state public institution may pay out the weighted-
average tuition and mandatory fees of all public institutions in that state when a
beneficiary chooses to attend either a private or an out-of-state public eligible educational
institution. Sometimes these payments to non-in-state public eligible educational
institutions are capped at the lower of (1) the actual tuition and mandatory fees charged by
the private or out-of-state public eligible educational institution, or (2) the weighted-
average tuition and mandatory fees of all public educational institution institutions in that
state.

Other prepaid plans only pay-out the weighted-average tuition and mandatory fees of all
public eligible educational institutions in that state. This can be a significant driver in the
pricing of the prepaid plan for those states where the various in-state public eligible
educational institutions have significant differences in their pricing structure (putting aside

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 47



Appendix E

the differences between two-year and four-year institutions). By only paying out the
weighted-average tuition and mandatory fees of all public eligible educational institutions
in that state, the prepaid plan is not on the hook for paying tuition and mandatory fees at
the highest cost in-state public eligible educational institution. Of course, then the account
owner or beneficiary is responsible for funding any differential to the extent the
beneficiary attends an institution whose tuition and mandatory fees are in excess of the
weighted-average tuition and mandatory fees of all public eligible educational institutions
in that state.

Other Considerations for Tuition Based Models

One of the current issues faced by prepaid plans that use a tuition based model has
centered on differential tuition charged within a public in-state eligible educational
institution. Many prepaid plans are now specifying that their program only covers tuition
and mandatory fees charged for all students attending that public in-state eligible
educational institution. The prepaid plan would not cover, for example, differential tuition
and fees charged by some schools within an institution or for a specific course of study.
This has become a more significant issues as public eligible educational institutions seek to
provide differential pricing based on the course of study or school within an institution, for
example differential pricing for attending an undergraduate engineering or architecture
school rather than the traditional liberal arts college within a specific institution.

Most prepaid plans that use a tuition based model also only cover a maximum number of
credit hours per semesters; any credits hours in excess of that maximum number are not
covered by the plan. In addition, if a student enrolls for a limited number of credit hours
under the maximum amount allowed for that semester under the prepaid plan, there is no
reimbursement or credit given for the hours foregone.

Some prepaid programs only pay tuition (whether actual or weighted average) and do not
pay any fees, mandatory or otherwise. Other prepaid programs limit the mandatory fees
that are covered by the plan. This has been in response to the trend by some public eligible
educational institutions to either add to the types of fees they charge and/or to increase
fees by more significant percentages than their increases in tuition (sometimes in response
to public pressures to limit tuition increases). Therefore, some prepaid programs either do
not cover fees at all or limit the nature and type of fees covered under the plan.

Credit Hour Model

A variation on the weighted-average tuition model is a model based on the mean weighted
credit hour value at public institutions (either four-year or two-year/community college)
in that state. This model ties pricing to credit hours purchased rather than to tuition,
whether on a semester or other basis. The prepaid program can then price their offerings
on a per credit hour basis rather than on the number of semesters or years selected by the

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 48



Appendix E

participant. This can also allow for a lower entry point for account holders in order to
participate in the state’s prepaid plan.

Pricing of course is dependent in this model on whether the actual cost of the credit hours
purchased is covered at any in-state public eligible educational institution or whether only
a weighted-average credit cost at all in-state public institutions is covered by the program.
The same issues as discussed above in the section on weighted-average tuition models
applies. The main difference is in the ability to price the program (1) based on credit hours
rather than semester or academic years, and (2) without covering any fees, mandatory or
otherwise.

Variation on the Weighted-Average Tuition or Credit Hour Models

An alternative to the two models discussed above, is for a prepaid program to match its
payout to the lowest tuition or lowest credit hour amount charged by any in-state public
eligible educational institution. In essence, the program would be providing a hedge for
participants based on the lowest pricing for either semester or credit hours at the time of
matriculation of the beneficiary. The account owner or beneficiary would then be
responsible for funding the difference between the actual cost of tuition incurred at that
institution and the lowest price charged by any in-state public eligible educational
institution. However, whether that pricing structure would be attractive to investors is an
open question. No prepaid program currently offers this model as its main payout
structure, but a few programs do provide a return based on the lowest amount if the
beneficiary does not attend an in-state public eligible educational institution.

Regardless of what model is used another consideration is whether to have a differential
payment based on whether the beneficiary attends (i) an in-state public, (ii) an out-of-state
public, or (iii) in-state private eligible educational institutions. If a differential does exist
under a program, it typically provides for lower payouts to eligible educational institutions
that are not in-state public institutions. Some programs also differentiate on the payout if
the beneficiary attends an in-state private versus an out-of-state public or private
institution. Other programs provide the same payout regardless of where the beneficiary is
enrolled. In those programs, the account owner knows that the return is the same and is
based on an in-state tuition model but that he or she can use those funds at any eligible
educational institution.

Guaranteed Return Model

One model used by the Pennsylvania program is a model based on average tuition
increases in the school category selected (participants choose from a number of school
categories, such as community college, public institutions in Pennsylvania, private
institutions, Ivy League universities). Participants select both a tuition level and the
number of credit hours for that level to determine the amount they must pay for that year’s
contract. The participant is counting that the increase in value over time, which is based on

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 49



Appendix E

tuition increases over that time, will be greater than the amount that the participant would
earn had their moneys been invested in the market or in a 529 savings plans. In essence the
participant is counting on the fund’s earnings to keep up or do better than tuition increases
over the time moneys are invested in the program. The Pennsylvania program is not
backed by the full faith and credit of the state nor is the program collateralized or
guaranteed by another entity or insurance.

If a participant makes a non-qualified withdrawal (i.e., a withdrawal that is not used for
qualified higher education expenses) then the return is equal to the greater of (1) the “net
earnings rate” of the programs funds or (2) the participant’s contributions (less fees). This
return is based on the actual returns (or, in some cases, a percentage of the program’s
actual returns) and is not an unusual return for non-qualified distributions.

Massachusetts has a similar plan that covers actual tuition increases, however, participants
purchase special tuition certificates that are backed by general obligation bonds issued by
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, which are backed by the full faith and credit of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. When the tuition certificates mature, the participants
can then use them to pay tuition at the participating eligible educational institutions.

A program could consider offering a prepaid plan that offers a return based on the plans
actual investment returns. However, this would in essence be a savings program where the
burden of investment decisions would be placed on the program rather than the individual.
The participant would then be counting on the ability of the program and its investment
advisors to generate a more attractive return than the participant could do on its own.

Alternative to this guaranteed return model based on actual tuition increases is to provide
areturn based on average tuition increases in the past ten years at the state’s public
eligible educational institutions rather than a promise to keep up with actual tuition
increases for the type of institution selected. This model might work to even out swings in
tuition increases (and possibly decreases) over a rolling ten-year period, especially if based
on average tuition increases across all in-state public institutions (or a subset of in-state
public institutions). Currently, no program is based on this possible model. It might be
difficult to explain this model to potential participants so that they understand what they
are purchasing. However, it could be an attractive way to handle unexpected spikes in
tuition and mandatory fees that occur long after pricing of the prepaid took place.

Risk Transfer Model

A final model to consider is a model that transfers the risk on payouts from the prepaid
program from the program to the state higher education system. This model is the model
used by the Texas Tuition Promise Fund. Under that program the future cost of tuition is
shifted to the state’s public universities and colleges under state law. Participants can
purchase tuition units at current tuition levels and when their beneficiaries are ready to
enroll at a Texas public university or college, those institutions must accept those tuition

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 50



Appendix E

units as payment for tuition. Market fluctuations in tuition do not affect the value of the
tuition units purchased. Participants must select and pay for the amount and type of tuition
units (Type I, Type II, and Type III units) depending on the type of in-state institution the
participant selects. While the program is not guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the
state, Texas law requires all Texas public eligible educational institutions to accept less
than full tuition from the Texas program if the program'’s investment returns fail to keep
pace with tuition increases.

This model would require the Washington legislature to enact a law similar to the Texas
legislation that requires the Washington state public higher education institutions to accept
the value of tuition units at matriculation in full payment of tuition obligations.

Considerations When Evaluating These Alternative Models

Other than the risk transfer model found in the Texas program, the other models presented
would require little or no change to the Washington statutes that authorize the creation of
GET. In addition, putting aside a model that pays out actual tuition and mandatory fees (as
previously existed when the GET program was open), a prepaid program that is based on
either (1) weighted-average tuition and mandatory fees (for the type of institution
selected) either on a semester or credit hour basis; or (2) average tuition increases in the
past ten years (or other measuring period) at the state’s public eligible educational
institutions (for the type of institution selected) may be models worth exploring. In
addition, decisions would need to be made to determine if the program would (a) cover
only tuition or tuition and mandatory fees; and (b) pay out the same benefits to
beneficiaries who enroll in private or out-of-state public institutions rather than in-state
public eligible educational institutions. Care must also be taken to define exactly what
tuition and mandatory fees are covered by the state’s prepaid program.

Conclusions

There are many alternative structures to consider if the GET Committee and the legislature
decide to reopen or redefine GET as a prepaid tuition program. Each of these models
described above would need to be reviewed by the OSA to determine if a pricing model
could be determined and sustained for the long-term. These alternative models described
above are presented as a response to the analysis in the prior August 2015 memorandum
that addressed using a cost of attendance model for reopening or redefining GET.

If you have any questions, concerning this memorandum or the prior memorandum from
August 2015, please do not hesitate to contact me. Thank you.

Washington Student Achievement Council Page 51



AUTHOR CONTACT INFORMATION

Betty Lochner

Program Director

Guaranteed Education Tuition
360.753.7871
bettyl@wsac.wa.gov

Lucas Minor

Associate Director for Marketing & Communications
Guaranteed Education Tuition

360.753.7628

lucasm@wsac.wa.gov

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The GET Committee would like to thank the following organizations and individuals for

their important contributions to this report:

Office of the State Actuary
Washington State Investment Board

Richard D. Brady, AAG, Office of the Attorney General

Jamie W.C. Canup, National 529 Expert and Special Counsel to the GET Committee,

Hirschler Fleischer

Washington Student Achievement Council

Page 52


mailto:bettyl@wsac.wa.gov
mailto:lucasm@wsac.wa.gov

	GET Committee Meeting Agenda 6.23.16
	Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Committee Meeting

	GET Committee Meeting 6.23.16
	GET Committee Meeting
	Welcome & Approval of Minutes 
	Chair’s Report
	Chair’s Report
	Chair’s Report
	Chair’s Report
	Chair’s Report
	Chair’s Report
	Director’s Report
	Director’s Report
	Director’s Report 
	Director’s Report 
	Director’s Report 
	Savings Plan Procurement Update
	Savings Plan Procurement Update
	Savings Plan Procurement Update
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Legislative Report Draft Review
	Legislative Report Draft Review
	Slide Number 31
	Legislative Report Draft Review
	Slide Number 33
	GET Policies Update
	GET Non-Penalty Refunds
	GET Non-Penalty Refunds
	Next Steps
	Public Comment
	Questions & Answers

	GET Committee Meeting Minutes_Final
	GET Q1_16
	GET Legislative Report_DRAFT
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	I. INTRODUCTION
	0TII. BACKGROUND
	III. STATUS UPDATE
	Impact of Decreasing Tuition Rates
	State Actuary’s Analysis of the Impact of Decreasing Tuition Rates
	Additional Notes on Funded Status and Unit Pricing

	2TFeasibility of a 529 College Savings Program
	The Current 529 Plan Landscape
	Assessment of Possible 529 College Savings Plan Approaches
	New Legislative Direction
	Next Steps

	3TAlternatives and Impacts of a Cost of Attendance Metric
	Cost of Attendance Assessment
	Other Alternative Payout Models
	Further Considerations

	Alternatives and Impacts for State Penalties on Withdrawals
	Permanent Program Refund Policies
	Temporary Refund Policy Changes
	Participant Response and Associated Impacts


	IV. CONCLUSION
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX D
	APPENDIX E


